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•	 m WE SUPREME COOR!' OF FIORIDA 

ALLEN LEE DAVIS,
 

Appellant,
 

v.	 CASE NO. 63,374 

STATE	 OF FIORIDA,
 

Appellee.
 

mITIAL BRIEF OF APPELIANT 

I PRELIMINARY STATEMENr 

Appellant, ALLEN' LEE DAVIS, was the defendant in the trial court and 

• will be referred to in this brief as appellant or by his proper narre • 

Appellee, the State of Florida, was the prosecution, and will be referred 

to as the state. The record on appeal will be referred to by use of the 

symbol	 "R". The transcripts of the pre-trial, jury selection, trial, 

penalty, and sentencing proceedings will be referred to by use of the 

symbol	 "T". All arphasis is supplied unless the contraxy is indicated. 

II STATEMENT OF WE CASE AND FACI'S 

Allen Davis was charged by indictment returned May 27, 1982, with three 

counts of first degree murder, in the deaths of Nancy, Kristina, and 

Katherine Weiler (R-55-57). '!he Public Defender was appointed to represent 

him (R-3). 

On August 11, 1982, the defense filed a notion for change of venue, 

• 
asking that the trial be moved fran Duval County (R-205-223). After a 

hearing on August 17, 1982, the trial court, over defense objection, deferred 

ruling	 on the notion until an attempt had been rrade to select a jury in 

Duval County (T-271-72). 
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• On September 17, 1982, the defense noved to suppress certain statements 

and admissions allegedly made by appellant to police officers (R-237-38). 

After a hearing on November 8-9, 1982, the trial court denied the notion 

to suppress these statements (R-259,268). 

• 

On Septariber 21, 1982, the Public Defender's Office filed a certifica­

tion of conflict and notion to withdraw fran representation of appellant 

(R-239) • The trial court granted the notion to withdraw on CCtober 5, 1982, 

and appointed Frank. Tassone, Jr. to represent appellant (R-244, T-307). 

Three days later, the Public Defender's Office asked to be re-appointed, 

as the claimed conflict had turned out not to exist (R-245-46). The trial 

court declined to re-appoint the Public Defender's Office (R-247). On 

January 7, 1983, Mr. Tassone filed a Notice of Adoption of Previously Filed 

Motions, in which he adopted, inter alia, the notions for change of venue 

and for individual and sequestered .voir dire which had previously been filed 

by the Public Defender's Office (R-269). 

Inmediately prior to jury selection on January 31, 1983, the trial 

court denied the defense's notion for individual and sequestered voir dire 

(R-287, T-532). A jury was empaneled, and the case proceeded to trial 

before Circuit Judge Major B. Harding on February 1-4, 1983. 

* 
The state presented thirty-four witnesses, including John Weiler, 

husband and father of the victims, who testified that a Nikon 35 mill.ilreter 

camera was missing fran his hare (T-840-41); Dr. Bonafacio Floro, the 

*Due to the anticipated length of this brief, and since appellant is not 
challenging the sufficiency of the evidence on appeal, the follCMing 

• 
surrmary is not intended to be a ccmplete staterrent of the evidence. The 
facts of the case, as they relate to the particular issues raised, will be 
set forth in the appropriate section of argument. 
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assistant medical examiner, who detennined that Nancy Weiler died as a• result of rrn.l1tiple blunt impacts to the head ('1'-975); Kristy Weiler had 

been shot in the head and chest ('1'-997); and Kathy Weiler had been shot 

in the lower back, and had also received several lacerations of the head 

('1'-1010-12); police officers Charles Kessinger, Derry Dedrron, Ray Smith, 

and Leroy Starling who testified with resPeCt to statements allegedly 

made by appellant, in which he adrnitted being in the Weilers' house, 

that he did not rerrarber everything that happened there, and that he 

"could have" taken his father's gun with him [see Issue N, infra]; police 

officers, including Kessinger and others, who testified with regard to 

items of physical evidence seized fram apPellant, including a rope taken 

• 
fram the back of his truck ('1'-1067-68) and articles of clothing taken fran 

his aparbnent ('1'-1169); Donald Davis, appellant's father and the next-door 

neighbor of the Wei1ers, who testified that he told Detective Kessinger 

that his .357 Ruger Black Hawk pistol, which he had placed on top of his 

refrigerator a week or two before the murders, was missing ('1'-1262-70); 

Gloria Lee, Angelo Giovagnoli, and Ginny Baumgartner, neighbors of the 

Weilers who testified that they saw appellant walking in the neighborhood 

around the t:i.ne of the murders; Paul Dolerran, a forensic serologist, 

who testified that blood found on one of appellant's boots and on one of his 

shirts was not consistent with appellant's blood but was consistent with 

Nancy Weiler's blood ('1'-1429-31); David Warni.Irent, an FDLE fireanns 

examiner, who examined the Iretal fragrrents of five semi-jacketed bullets 

which had been found in the Weiler hare, and detennined that they were rrost 

consistent with having been fired fran a .357 magnum Ruger Black Hawk, 

• 
single-action revolver ('1'-1483-84); Warn:i.nent also examined several other 

metal fragments found at the scene of the murders and detennined that 
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•
 

•
 

•
 

(	 (
 

these fragnents were consistent with once having been part of a Ruger Black 

Hawk single action revolver (T-1503); Richard Padon, a friend of appellant's, 

who testified that he drove appellant to his father's house for the purpose 

of ccmnitting a burglary in the neighborhood, and that when he later picked 

appellant up, he had three paper bags with him, one of which contained a 

35-millirreter Nikon camera (T-1520-21, 1529-31) i Mal:y Lynn Henson, a 

microanalyst with the FDLE, who stated her opinion that the piece of rope 

with which Kristy weiler's wrists were bound was at one time attached to 

a piece of rope seized from appellant's truck (T-1582); and Donald Havekost, 

a neutron activation analyst with the FBI, who stated his opinion that the 

bullet fragrrents found in the Weiler hare came fran the same source of 

lead as the eighteen live cartridges contained in Donald Davis' arrmunition 

box (T-1603). 

The jury returned verdicts finding appellant guilty as charged on 

all three counts of first degree murder (R-301-03, T-1770). 

'Ihe penalty phase of the trial was conducted on February 9, 1983. 

The jury recorrtrended i.rrp::>sition of the death penalty on all three counts 

(R-308-10, T-1849-51). 

On March 2, 1983, the trial court adjudicated appellant guilty on 

each of the three counts (R-316), and imposed three sentences of death 

(R-318-20). The court found, as aggravating circumstances, (1) that the 

crimes were corrmitted while under sentence of imprisonment (referring to 

the fact that appellant was on parole), (2) that appellant was 

previously convicted of prior violent felonies, (3) that the crimes were 

corrmitted during the course of a burgla:ry, (4) (as to the murder of Kathy 

Weiler only) that the crime was ccmnitted for the purpose of avoiding arrest, 

(5) that the crirres were especially heinous, atrocious, or cruel, and (6) 

that the crimes were corrmitted in a cold, calculated, and prerreditated rranner 

(R-324-28) . iJhe trial court found no mitigating factors (R-323-24). 

Notice	 of appeal was tllrely filed on March 3, 1983 (T-331).
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III ARGUMENT
 

• ISSUE I 

THE TRIAL COURT ABUSED ITS DISCRETION BY FAILING 
TO GRANT APPELLANT'S MOTION FOR CHANGE OF VENUE 

A. The Nature of the Pre-Trial Publicity 

Allen Davis was placed under arrest for the Weiler murders in the 

early morning of May 13, 1982 (R-1-2,T-l078). The probable cause state­

ment in the arrest report includes the following remarks: 

Allen Lee Davis admitts (sic) being at the 
victims home at approx. time of their death, 
8 P.M. 11 May 1982. Allen Lee Davis failed 
a polygraph examiration conducted by the Jax. 
Sheriff's Office. 

(R-2). 

On August 11, 1982, the defense filed a motion for change of venue, 

which contained the following allegations:

• 1. The Defendant was indicted and charged with three 
counts of First Degree Murder. 
2. The death of the Weilers and the arrest of Allen 
Lee Davis has been subjected to extensive media 
coverage via television, radio, and newspapers in 
the Duval County area. 
3. The State, through its agent, the Jacksonville 
Sheriff's Office, improperly released to the news 
media, which was disseminated in the Duval County 

1 
While it is true that Davis admitted being in the Weiler home at around 

8:00 P.M., and that he did not recall everything that happened there, 
he did not admit to committing the murders or being aware of them (see 
T-l06l-62,1200,1214). Therefore, it appears that Detectiv.e-cKessinger 
juxtaposed Davis' admission of being in the house at 8:00 with someone 
else's (presumably the medical examiner's) conclusion about the time 
of death. [Dr. Floro testified at trial that the time of death was bet­
ween 6 P.M. and midnight (R-964)]. Accordingly, the statement in the 
arrest report subtly implies that Davis admitted to an awareness of the 
time of death, and thus to an awareness of the murders. This potentially 
misleading implication was compounded a hundred-fold in a television 
newscast which stated, inter alia, that "[Davis] was in the presence 
of the victims at the time of their death and he admits to this and 

• 
he has also failed the polygraph test" (T-145) . 
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area, that Allen Lee Davis was arrested after he• failed a polygraph examination. 

4. The State, through its agent, the Jacksonville 
Sheriff's Office, improperly released to the news 
media, which was disseminated in the Duval County 
area, Allen Lee Davis's prior criminal record as well 
as the fact that the Defendant is currently on felony 
parole. 

5. The State, through its agent, the Jacksonville 
Sheriff's Office, improperly released to the news 
media, which was disseminated in the Duval County 
area, statements of Allen Lee Davis to representatives 
of the Jacksonville Sheriff's Office, placing him at 
the scene of the murders at the time the victims 
were alleged to have been killed. 

6. The State, through its agent, the Jacksonville 
Sheriff's Office, improperly released to the news 
media, which was disseminated in the Duval County 
area, certain aspects of the police investigation, to 
wit: fiber analysis and the searching of local waters 
for a weapon. 

• 7. The State, through its agent, the Jacksonville 
Sheriff's Office, improperly released to the news 
media, which was disseminated in the Duval County 
area, certain evidence relating to a gun belonging 
to the Defendant's father being reported missing, 
which was consistent with the weapon or discription 
of the weapon involved in the death of the Weilers. 

8. The State, through its agent, the Jacksonville 
Sheriff's Office, released copies of the Arrest and 
and Booking Report to the news media at first appear­
ance court wherein the information regarding the 
polygraph examination was contained. 

9. The Defendant's arrest, as well as subsequent court 
appearances by the Defendant or his counsel, have been 
reported by the local news media to the public in the 
Duval County area. 

10. The knowledge of the case and of the Defendant 
as reported in the news media is widespread in Duval 
County. The potential for prejudice in the community 
as a result of such information or the exposure to 
such inadmissible evidence or testimony is great. 

• 
(R-205-06). 
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Appended to the motion was an affadavit of Assistant Public 

• Defender Anthony Zebouni, stating that he personally observed Sheriff's 

Office employees tendering copies of the arrest report, which contained 

references to Davis' having failed a polygraph and to his statements 

placing him in the Weiler home, to television and radio personnel 

at Davis' bond hearing (R-208). Also included were affadavits of 

fifteen Duval County attorneys, who stated their opinions that Allen 

Davis could not obtain a fair and impartial jury in the county as a 

result of extensive newspaper publicity and T.V. and radio coverage 

of the case, and specifically the exposure of members of the community 

to the inadmissible evidence of Davis' having failed a polygraph 

examination (R-209,210,211,2l2,213,214,215,217,218,220,223), and his 

prior	 record of violent crime (R-213,2l7,2l8,2l9,223), and to the 

• 
dissemination of statements concerning Davis' presence at the crime 

scene	 at the time of the offense (R-222). 

At the hearing on the motion, the defense introduced an audit 

report showing	 the daily circulation of the Jacksonville newspapers. 

These figures were: Times-Union-115,666; Journal-43,600; Saturday­

132,279; Sunday 146,423 (T-128-29). Certain newspaper articles were 
1.5 

introduced into evidence as Defendant's Exhibit 4 (T-130). 

The Jacksonville Journal of May 13, 1982 contained an article 

headlined "Suspect charged in triple murder", which included a photo­

graph	 of police and funeral home employees removing the bodies of 

Mrs.	 Weiler and her daughters from their home (R-50). The article 

stated, inter alia: 

1.5 
The exhibits introduced at the change of venue hearing will be trans- . 

• 
mitted to this Court. Two of the newspaper articles contained in exhibit 
4 can also be found at pages 50-51, 53-54 of the record. 

- 7 ­



Police said records indicate Davis, a ship­
yard welder, was arrested in 1965 at Bangor, 
Maine, for assault and in 1966 in Baltimore, Md., 

• 
for involuntary manslaughter with a vehicle. 

Duval County Circuit Court records show he was 
sentenced to a total of 15 years here in 1973 
after being convicted of two robberies and an 
attempted robbery. It could not be determined 
today if Davis served any time in prison on those 
convictions. 

(R-50, see T-130). 

The suspect agreed to take a lie detector test 
and failed it, officers said. They declined 
to reveal the test questions. 

Homicide Detective Charles Kesinger said Davis 
told him he had seen Mrs. Weiler early Tuesday 
evening, the time members of the Duval County 
Medical Examiner's Office believe the killings 
occurred. 

(R-5l, see T-130-3l). 

The Journal of May 13, 1982 also contained an article headlined 

• 
"Explaining girl's slaying a tough job for teacher." The article dealt 

with the trauma faced by Kristy Weiler's fifth grade teacher, in breaking 

the news of Kristy's murder to her classmates. It read, in part: 

Kristina, who was called "Kristy", was a 
bouncy, "cheerleader type" who enjoyed 
doing handicrafts with her mother, Ms. 
Robichaud said. She had been selected by her 
classmates as the March "Supercitizen," 
said school Principal Mari~Duncan. 

Yesterday would have been Kristy's 10th birth­
day. She had planned a birthday party at 
her home after school, and her class was 
taking a field trip to the zoo. 

"They were having a disco party for her 
birthday. The invitations were so cute, 
she wrote them herself and said, 'Be sure 
to wear your disco clothes.' Eddie (a 
classmate) was so upset because he forgot 
his dancing shoes," Ms. Robichaud said. 

(Defendant's Exhibit 4, p. 4). 

* * * * * * • 
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• 
"We did not tell that Kristy was the one 
that died," Mrs. Duncan said, adding that 
the children were told the birthday party 
had been canceled because of a death in the 
family "so these children wouldn't go over 
and run right into the tragedy and all that 
would be connected with it." 

Ms. Robichaud said Kristy's classmates did 
not seem satisfied with the explanation. 

"They wanted to know who had died and I said, 
'I don't know.' They wanted to know if the 
party would be held. 

"They said, "Why is your nose so red? Why 
have you been crying? They know something 
is wrong, and I hope the parents are under­
standing about it. I feel sorry for those 
parents," Ms. Robichaud said. 

But she knows she will have to do some ex­
plaining to her class today. 

• 
"I'm going to be very honest with them. They're 
going to be very scared, horribly scared. They're 
going to want comforting and they're going to 
want to know why it happened. 

"1 m going to try to make it a normal day ..•' 
with a lot of silent meditation." 

(Defendant's Exhibit 4, p. 5). 

The Times-Union of May 13, 1982 reported the reaction of Dr. 

Bonafacio Floro, the assistant medical examiner: 

When Floro left the house yesterday after­
noon, he wiped tears from his eyes and brushed 
asile reporters' questions until he had made a 
preliminary examination. 

He was Visibly shaken. 

'~t was because there were kids involved and 
the way they were killed," Floro, himself 
the father of three children, a girl, 12, 
and two boys, 4 and 7, said later. 

"You get emotional for anybody who had kids 

• 
that died. They're so innocent; they did not 
know what was going on," he said. 

(Defendant's Exhibit 4, p. 6). 
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The Times-Union of May 14, 1982 contained an article headlined 

"Welder held in slayings of mother, 2 daughters," featuring a large 

photograph of Allen Davis in handcuffs (R-53, see T-131). The story 

begins "A 37-year old welder who was paroled from prison in 1979 ••• " 

(R-53). Davis is described as a 6-foot 340-pound individual nicknamed 

"Tiny" (R-53). The article continues: 

Circuit Court records showed that Davis 
pleaded gUilty in 1973 to armed robbery, 
attempted armed robbery and carrying a 
concealed firearm, and that Circuit Judge 
R. Hudson Oliff sentenced him to 15 years 
in prison. 

Davis was paroled Sept. 25, 1979, after 
serving most of the six years at Doctors 
Inlet Road Prison in Clay County, said David 
Skipper, a spokesman for the state Department 
of Corrections in Tallahassee. 

He was paroled because he had a clean disci­
plinary record, good progress reports and 
showed a favorable prison adjustment, Skipper 
said. 

Court officials said Davis also was convicted in 
1966 in Baltimore of involuntary vehicular man­
slaughter for which he was sentenced to three 
years. 

And in 1961, Davis was convicted in Bangor, 
Maine, of assault and battery and was sentenced 
to six months to three years. 

(R-53-54, see T-131-32). 

Davis came under suspicion about eight hours 
after the bodies were found at 11 a.m. Wednesday, 
police said. 

He was questioned by homicide detectives Wednesday 
night and voluntarily submitted to a lie-detector 
test, said homicide Lt. Jim Suber. He was arrested 
and booked about 2 a.m. yesterday. 
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Davis' pickup truc~which was found near the 
Weilers' house, was examined for physical evi­
dence. 

"We got this thing under heavy investigation," 
Suber said yesterday. "We're trying right now 
to tie some loose ends. We haven't found the 
gun, and we can't comment on the evidence we have." 

(R-54, see T-132). 

On May 18, 1982, the Jacksonville Journal published an article 

headlined "Alligator impedes probe." This article concerned police 

efforts to recover the murder weapon, a pistol. Divers were searching 

several bodies of water, and there were apparently alligators in the 

locations being searched. Homicide detectives said they didn't know 

anything about alligators: 

"I'm not verifying the information," Lt. 
Jim Suber said. "We're searching four 
or five bodies of water. This is just one 
more place." 

Suber said any comments could hinder the 
investigation and that if anything were 
printed, a guard would be placed in the area 
being searched to prevent anyone from tampering 
with evidence that might be found there. 

"Whoever knows where that gun is, knows where 
the water is" he said. 

"You can never know for sure what people will do." 

Suber said his fears were not that another 
suspect might be at large, but that relatives 
or friends of Allen Lee Davis, the 37-year old. 
shipyard welder charged with the triple slayings 
could try to prevent investigators from discoveri~g 

evidence. 

(Defense Exhibit 4, p. 12, see T-133). 

The defense called as a witness Steven Crosby, assistant news 

director at WJXT Television, Channel 4, who presented "doves" (video 

taped segments which appeared on the air) from newscasts concerning 
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• the Weiler murders (T-138-42). One of these newscasts announced: 

Thirty-seven-year-old Allen Lee Davis booked 
into the Duval County Jail early this morning; 
he's charged with triple murders of Nancy 
Weiler and her two children, ten-year-old 
Christina and five-year-old Kathy. 

Early in the investigation, attention focused 
on this man, Allen Lee Davis, the son of the 
Weiler's next-door neighbor. After questioning 
Davis, police found substantial evidence in both 
the suspect's truck and, upon investigation of 
the house, linking him to the crime. 

He was in the presence of the victims at the time 
of their death and he admits to this and he has 
also failed the polygraph test. 

According to the police, Davis agreed to be inter­
viewed at the Jacksonville Sheriff's Office. This 
is not his first brush with the law. Police say he 
was out on parole and has a lengthy criminal record. 
He is scheduled to be arraigned later this morning. 

•
 Jeff Silverstein, Channel 4, Eyewitness news.
 

(T-145). 

Other channel 4 broadcasts carried the following information and 

commentary: 

The neighborhood in this community is a very close­
knit group. The only word is horrible. That is the 
only word. Things like this don't happen in a nice 
neighborhood and this is a nice neighborhood and they 
were nice people. 

Twelve-year-old blank blank was invited to the birth­
day party planned for Cristina. She would have been 
ten years old. I got off of the bus and I didn't 
want to believe it at first. It's kind of senseless 
but I found out it was a crime. 

(T-145). 

The crime was called untimely. He is the son of the 

• 
of the Weilers' next-door neighbor. Police say they 
found cord similar to that used to bind the wrists 
of the Weiler child in the Chevrolet pickup. They 
say his handgun is missing and has not yet been found. 
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Davis today has been charged with murder at 3:00 
o 'clock this morning, after he flunked a lie 
detector test. Davis had already been convicted 
of assault and disorderly conduct. He was out on 
parole for armed robbery. Fellow shipyard workers 
and friends give a completely different picture 
of Davis. They say he is a good natured man who loves 
children, a good co-worker. They say they can't 
believe he is a man who could be guilty of committing 
three murders. 

Bill Palmer worked with Davis two years says he's 
okay, he loved to sit down and talk about hunting, 
fishing and back in Maine, that's where he's from. 
I can't believe that this happened. I can't believe 
it's true. I am sick about this whole thing. Since 
leaving the North Florida Shipyard in the fall, friends 
say Davis worked in other shipyards. They say he 
was laid off a few weeks ago. Davis shared his Arling­
ton apartment with Mary Collins. It's unbelievable. 
I can't believe it. I really can't. Especially when 
it comes to children, I can't believe he would do 
something like that. I really don't believe he did 
it. 

John Weiler is staying with friends after flying back 
from Pittsburgh yesterday~ He said he is trying to 
make funeral arrangements for his family so brutally 
taken away from him. 

Wynn Farley, Channel 4 Eyewitness News. 

(T-146-47) • 

There might have been some doubt in people's minds, 
there was no doubt in our mind now that we have the 
right suspect. Lt. Suber would not comment on the 
circumstances but here's what we know of evidence from 
the individuals close to the investigation: During 
several hours of questioning in the interrogation room, 
the police said Davis told them he was in the Weiler 
home the night of the murders but also said he had 
a lapse of memory. The detective that made up the 
arrest report wrote Allen Davis stated he could not 
remember everything that happened while he was at the 
victims' home. 

The Duval County Medical Examiner put the time of death 
somewhere between 7:30 and 9:00 o'clock. John Weiler 

• 
told police he talked with his wife on the phone at 
a quarter of 7:00 while she was preparing dinner. 

A neighbor said she called the Weiler home at 8:15 
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• and there was no answer. Davis, himself, told the 
police he was in the house around 8:00 o'clock. Police 
first questioned Davis as a possible suspect witness 
when his father, the Weiler's next-door neighbor, 
reported his gun missing. 

The police believe the gun to be the same kind that 
the suspect used. They think it was a .357 caliber 
revolver like this one as fragments of the wood from 
the murder weapon were found by the victims which 
were pistol whipped. 

Sources close to the investigation say the pistol was 
a Black Hawk .357 Magnum. The insignia was all that 
was found at the scene that would make it the same 
type gun Davis' father reported missing. The whereabouts 
of the actual murder weapon remains a mystery. 

Among evidence taken from the truck was nylon cord 
believed to be identical to one of the cords used 
to tie up one of the children. Detectives secured 
the scene at the time and Davis' apartment, looking 
for physical evidence. Their findings were brought 
here to the Jacksonville Crime Lab where they will 
look for fibers, hair and do ballistic tests. 

• I think we have a very significant case against him at 
this point and I hope to have even a better case at 
trial time based on physical evidence and witnesses. 
Davis' attorney said he will ask the Court to move 
the case out of Jacksonville. We predict it will 
be a very sensitive case. 

Denny Silverstein, Channel 4 Eyewitness news. 

(T-147-49) • 

The video tape next depicted Allen Davis, handcuffed, wearing a 

baseball cap, and flanked by two officers, apparently being transported 

to the Duval County Jail during the night time (T-147). 

The Channel 4 stories concerning the Weiler murders were aired 

at noon, 6:00 p.m., and 11:00 p.m., and some may have appeared on more 

than one newscast (T-142,150). According to an Arbitron survey covering 

the period from April 28 - May 25, 1982, Channel 4 News had a potential 

•
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weekday viewing audience of 55,000 households or 72,000 persons for 

the noon broadcast, 109,000 households or 174,000 persons for the 6:00• 
2 

p.m. broadcast, and 56,000 households or 92~000 persons fur the 11:00 

p.m. broadcast (T-150-5l). Crosby indicated that this survey would 

include Duval County~ and the surrounding counties of Baker, Bradford~ 

. 3Clay, Columbla, Nassau~ and Putnam. 

Gerry Howard, news director of WJKS-TV, Channel 17, presented four 

taped news broadcasts concerning the Weiler murders. He estimated that~ 

altogether, these stories would have been aired a dozen or more times 

(T-157~163). The third newscast~ which was aired on May 13, 1982 at 

6:00 p.m.~ again at 11:00 p.m., and on Newswatch 17 update the following 

morning (T-16l~ see T-157)~ related the following information: 

Davis was charged with the murders early this 
morning after four hours of interrogation.

• Police said he voluntarily submitted to a lie 
detector test and failed. Other evidence includes 
rope found in the back of pickup which may have 
been used to tie the hands of Kathy Weiler who 
was found shot to death. Police say Davis who 
was denied bond admitted being in the house 
around 8:00 p.m. Wednesday night. 

Davis had been cfnvicted twice and released from 
Raiford in 1969. 

(T-162). 

2 
Crosby defined his'potential viewing audience" as the number of house­

holds which~ there would be good reason to believe, would have television 
sets tuned to Channel 4 WJXT at a particular time (T-151). 
3 

The population of Duval County~ according to the 1980 census~ was 
570,981. The combined population of the six other counties was 221,206. 
According to voter registration statistics submitted by the defense~ there 
were 25l~304 registered voters (and therefore 251,304 potential jurors) 

• 
in Duval County as of August 4, 1982 (T-126). 
4 
This date is incorrect. Davis was paroled from the Florida prison system 

in 1979. (See R-325, T-1785). The child whose hands were bound was Kristy 
Weiler. 
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• 
Richard Padden5said he had spoken to Davis around 
6:00 p.m. Tuesday night just about two hours before 
the murders were committed. He shook my hand and 
told me any time I needed anything, give him a 
holler. Did he indicate to you why he was in such 
a good mood? No. Looked like to me he had been out 
working. Police are searching the waters in back 
of the Weiler home in hopes of finding the murder 
weapon. 

(T-162-63) • 

Howard indicated that approximately 20,000 people see the 6:00 

p.m. newscast on Channel 17, and approximately 19,000 people see the 

11:00 p.m. newscast (T-159-6l). Channel l7's signal encompasses a 

five-county area, including Duval, Clay, St. John's, Baker, and 

6
Flagler (T-155). 

Irene Shubert, administrative assistant to the news desk at WTLV­

TV Channel 12, presented several video taped news segments on the Weiler 

• murders. The first story was aired at noon on May 12, 1982, and included 

the following comment (which was repeated during the 6:00 p.m. broadcast): 

The neighbors were in total shock, completely 
wiped out. We never had anything happen before 
like this. I have been in the Military but not 
next door -- the murders came on the morning eve 
of the celebration that was the birthday of nine­
year-old Christy Weiler. 

(T-169). 

On "Good Morning, Jacksonville" on May 13, an information officer 

5 
Richard Padon testified at trial that he drove Davis to Davis' 

father's house to commit a burglary in the neighborhood; that he later 
picked Davis up; and that Davis had three brown paper bags, one of 
which contained a Nikon camera (T-15l8-35). Padon did not mention 
any of this to police until September, because he did not want to get 
involved (T-1535). 
6 
The combined 1980 population of the four surrounding counties is 

• 
144,557, compared to Duval's 570,981. 
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• from the Sheriff's Department was shown making the statement: 

Time of death, according to Medical Examiner, was 
approximately 8:00 p.m. At that particular time, 
he was in the companY0f· vi·ctims. 

(T-170) . 

Another Channel 12 newscast, apparently aired on June 9, 1982 

(see T-173), conveyed the following information to viewers: 

••. there were not just three deaths on May 11. 
Mrs. Weiler was pregnant at the time. The 
pregnancy is early and it is unlikely another 
murder charge will result. 

The police now have three witnesses that can 
pin down Davis' whereabouts on the day of the 
murders. One neighbor apparently spotted Davis 
near where the murders occurred with a gun in 
his hand. Neither the police nor the Public 
Defender or prosecutor would have any comment 
or action. 

• 
Assistant State Attorney Ralph Greene would 
not comment on Davis' case but he would talk 
about the use of hypnosis testimony in court. 
We're not talking about hocus pocus, you know, 
of a carnival show; it's well recognized, 
well thought of technique to help a person 
remember. 

But the case against the unemployed shipyard 
worker is growing more complicated, one that the 
defense feels would have to be decided out­
side of Duval County. 

(T-l72) • 

In July, 1982, Channel 12 broadcast an editorial piece by Allen 

Rothstein: 

The murder occurred while Davis was out on parole. 
Allen Lee Davis is accused of killing a Jacksonville 
mother and her two children while out on parole for 
armed robbery this year. I think that he needed to 
serve a little more time than three years. I mean, 
that was a child that he first. killed. IRe wasiniCourt 
today trying to stop the prosecution from using an 
alleged conviction but he has not yet been tried for 
the second trial -- (inaudible) parole and probation 
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• 
people are letting people out on the streets too 
early, that he's got a criminal out there on the 
street. 

Mistakes are made but -- we cannot predict what a 
person will or will not do. We try to make the 
best judgment we can based on the information that 
we have (inaudible). Why should I agonize over 
a sentence if they're going to take them over there 
in due time and re-sentence them, why don't we try 
them and say you all do what you want to with them? 

Channel 12, Allen Rothstein. 

(T-173). 

• 

According to an Arbitron survey, there are 169,000 households in 

the WTLV viewing area. The estimated viewing audiences for the news 

broadcasts are: Good Morning, Jacksonville - 10,000 households; noon ­

15,000; 6:00 p.m. - 40,000; and 11:00 p.m. - 33,000 (T-174). Stories 

are sometimes broadcast on more than one news program (T-167). The 

station's major market is Duval County; its signal reaches into south 
7 

Georgia and Clay, Nassau, and Baker Counties. 

Arguing in support of the motion for change of venue, defense 

counsel asserted that the extensive pre-trial publicity in this case 

was irreparhbly prejudicial in that it exposed the Duval County comm­

unity to 1) inadmissible evidence of Davis' prior criminal record, 

including convictions of manslaughter, two armed robberies, and attempted 

robbery (T-183,186,187); 2) inadmissible evidence that Davis was on 

parole at the time of the murders (T-184,185,186); 3) inadmissible 

evidence that Davis took a polygraph and failed it (T-183,184,185,186,187); 

4) Davis' statements (the admissibility of which had yet to be determined) 

to police, placing him in the Weiler home at the time the medical examiner 

believed the murders occurred, and claiming that he had a lapse of 

• memory while in the house (T-184,185,186,187); 5) ex parte statements of 

7 
The combined 1980 population of the latter three counties is 115,235. 
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• 
evidence indicative of guilt which the police had assembled, including 

the facts that a handgun belonging to Davis' father was missing (T-186), 

that a cord found in Davis' truck matched the cord which bound Kristy 

• 

Weiler's wrists (T-186,187), and that police had found three eyewitnesses 

who could pin down Davis' whereabouts, one of whom saw him in the 

neighborhood with a gun in his hand (T-187); 6) stateme~tsi by state -off­

icials expressing their certainty of Davis' guilt; that they had the 

right suspect, and that they had a "very significant case" against him 

(T-186); 7) statements by police to the effect that Davis' friends or 

relatives might interfere with their efforts to find evidence; specifically 

the missing handgun (T-185); 8) inflammatory commentary strongly tending 

to evoke community sympathy for, and identification with, the victims 

(and, concomitantly, prejudice against the named suspect, Davis), in­

cluding an article about Kristy's schoolteacher having to break the news 

of her death to her classmates (T-184), newscasts emphasizing the reaction 

of the Weilers': close-knit, upper-middle class, family-oriented neigh­

borhood to the horror and senselessness of the crime (T-186,187); references 

to Mrs. Weiler's being pregnant at the time of her death (T-187); references 

to Kristy's tenth birthday party which was to have been held the next 

day (T-184, 186), and the medical examiner's emotional reaction as he 

left the house (T-184); and 9) a!itelecast. denouncing parole authorities 

for releasing prisoners back onto the streets to commit crimes, and 

referring specifically to Allen Davis as one who "needed to serve a little 

more time" and who subsequently murdered a child (T-187-88). 

Defense counsel argued that, as a result of these highly pre­

judicial disclosures by the media, and by the police through the media, 

• "the damage has already been done, [and] that in order to insure that a 
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fair trial is had, the Court has to change the venue" (T-223). The trial 

• court instead chose to defer ruling on a change of venue until an attempt 

to select a jury in Duval County had been made (T-27l). The defense 

objected, and reiterated its position that the case should be moved to 

another jurisdiction at this time (T-272). 

Jury selection commenced on January 31, 1983. The trial court 

granted each side three additional peremptory challenges, and denied 

the defense's motion for individual and sequestered voir dire (T-532) 

[See Issue II, infra]. During voir dire, at least nine prospective 

8jurors indicated that they had some prior knowledge of the case, 

from television, radio, newspapers, or word of mouth. Early in the 

voir-dire, a prospective juror (unidentified in the record) said "I 

must honestly say I read the paper rather thorougJ:1ly ••. " and indicated 

that he was not sure at that point if he could be open-minded or not 

• (T-651,). A second unidentifi.e<lprospectiv'e juror said 

the same applied to her (T-561). Prospective juror Lane said she 

knew about the case from watching televison, knew in her heart how 

she felt about it, and had already more or less made up her mind (T-644­

46) [See Issue III]. Prospective juror Richardson (who served on the 

jury) knew something about the case from the newspaper and TV (T-65l). 

Prospective juror Price, who had heard something about the case (T-763), 

when asked by the prosecutor whether she could vote for the death 

penalty, stated: 

Well, the way it was expressed to me, sir, 

8 
These potential jurors included Richardson (T-599-600, 651), Lane (644­

46), Stanley Johnson (T-599, 646-47), Jackson (T-60l-02, 650-51), Cassidy 

• 
(T-564,625, 636-37), Griswold (T-609), James Johnson (T-677, 688-89), 
Robb (T-770), and Price (T-763, see T-74l). 
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• 
these people get out on probation and they 
done these horrible things, that's the 
only question that I would say about 
capital punishment. 

(T-74l). 

Three of the prosepective jurors who had some prior knowledge of 

the case, Richardson, Jackson, and Griswold, ultimately served on the 

jury (T-774, 1770-71, 1851-53). 

B.	 The Nature and Content of the Pre-Trial Publicity in this Case 
was so Irreparably Prejudicial to Appellant's Fundamental Right 
to an Impartial Jury, that Due Process Required a Change of 
Venue, with No Requirement that Actual Prejudice be Demonstrated 
on Voir Dire 

A defendant in a criminal case is entitled to a fair trial by an im­

partial jury which will render its verdict based on the evidence and argu­

ments presented in court without being influenced by outside sources. 

Irvin v. Dowd, 366 U.S. 717, 722 (1961); Taylor v. Kentucky, 436 U.S. 

• 478,485 (1978); United States v. Davis, 583 F.2d 190, 197 (5th Cir. 1978); 

United States v. Hawkins, 658 F.2d 279, 282 (5th Cir. 1981). While it 

is true that a motion for a change of venue is addressed to the sound 

discretion of the trial court [see e.g. Manning v. State, 378 So.2d 274, 

276 (Fla. 1979)], it is also true that when a community is "so pervasively 

exposed to the circumstances of the incident that prejudice, bias, and 

preconceived opinions are the natural result," the court is obligated 

to grant the motion. Manning v. State, supra, at 276. Under certain 

unusual circumstances, where the inherently prejudicial character of the 

publicity to which the community has been exposed is extreme, the voir 

dire examination of prospective jurors may be incapable of curing the 

impact of the publicity, and due process may require a change of venue 

• 
without regard to voir dire. See Rideau v. Louisiana, 373 U.S. 723, 727 
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(1963); Groppi v. Wisconsin, 400 u.s. 505, 510 (1971); Oliver v. State, 

250 So.2d 888, 890 (Fla. 1971); State v. Stiltner, 491 P.2d 1043, 1047­

48 (Wash. 1971); Henley v. State, 576 S.W.2d 66, 71-72 (Tex. 1978); 
9 

People v. Boudin, 457 N.Y.S.2d 302, 304-05 (1982). 

Among the categories of pre-trial disclosure of information and 

pre-trial commentary which (either alone or in combination) have been 

recognized as potentially prejudicial to an accused's right to a fair 

trial include: 

1) Pre-trial publication of the defendant's criminal record, parti­

cularly if it reveals a significant history of violent crime. See e.g. 

Commonwealth v. Pierce, 303 A.2d 209, 211, 213 (Pa. 1973) (defendant's 

record dated to 1963 and included arrests for car theft, assault and 

battery, and carrying a concealed weapon; served time in state juvenile 

center); Commonwealth v. Frazier, 369 A.2d 1224, 1226, 1228-30 (Pa. 1977) 

(defendant previously convicted on morals charge; served time in prison); 

In re Miller, 109 Cal. Rptr. 648, 652-53 (Cal.App. 1973) (defendant had 

long criminal record including armed robberies and kidnapping a police­

man, and spent 26 years in prison). 

9 
Other cases which discuss the circumstances under which a change of 

venue is constitutionally required, as a result of community exposure 
to inherently prejudicial publicity, even in the absence of an affirma­
tive showing of actual prejudice on the part of prospective jurors, 
include Pamplin v. Mason, 364 F.2d 1, 5-7 (5th Cir. 1966); United 
States v. Williams, 523 F.2d 1203, 1208-09 and n. 10 (5th Cir. 1975); 
United States v. Chagra, 669 F.2d 241, 249-50 (5th Cir. 1982); Maine 
v. Superior Court of Mendocino County, 438 P.2d 372, 375-78 (Cal. 1968); 
Corona v. Superior Court for County of Sutter, 101 Cal.Rptr. 411, 414­
18, (Cal.App.1972) , Commonwealth v. Pierce, 303 A.2d 209, 212-15 (Pa. 
1973); Commonwealth v. Frazier, 369 A.2d 1224, 1227-30 (Pa. 1977); 
Commonweath v. Casper, 392 A.2d 287, 291-93 (Pa. 1978); Pollard v. 
District Court of Woodbury County, 200 N.W.2d 519, 520 (Iowa 1972); 
State v. Cuevas, 288 N.W.2d 525, 527 (Iowa 1980). 
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2) Pre-trial disclosure of the information that the defendant had 

• recently been released or paroled from prison. See Commonwealth v. Frazier, 

supra, at 1226 (defendant released from state penitentiary just two months 

prior to the homicide). 

3) Pre-trial disclosure of the information that the defendant has 

failed, taken, or refused to take a polygraph examination. See State v. 

Stiltner, 491 P.2d 1043 (Wash. 1971) (defendant was one of five suspects 

in embezzlement case; local newspaper ran several articles stating that the 

four other suspects had taken polygraph examinations and passed); contrast 

United States v. Kampi1es, 609 F.2d 1233, 1239 (7th Cir. 1979) (publicity 

was not so prejudicial as to require change of venue; "[n]either the arti­

cles nor the telecast made any mention of Kampiles' confession, his failure 

of the polygraph examination or any other evidence that might have irre­

parably prejudiced the defendant"). See also Gannett Co. v. DePasguale,

• 443 U.S. 368, .369 :(1979) (noting prejudicial effect of potential jurors 

becoming aware of inculpatory information which is wholly inadmissible at trial). 

4) Pre-trial disclosure of any confessions, admissions, or incul­

patory statements made by the defendant. See Oliver v. State, 250 So.2d 

888, 890 (Fla. 1971) (when confession is featured in news media, change 

of venue should be granted upon request; voir dire process cannot cure 

the impact of such publicity); Singer v. State, 109 So.2d 7, 11 (Fla. 

1959); cf. Hoy v. State, 353 So.2d 826, 830 (Fla. 1977) (distinguishing 

Oliver, and holding that change of venue was not required where report 

based on three contradictory statements by defendant was published in 

one particular newspaper, as was defendant's retraction of his confession, 

and voir dire affirmatively demonstrated that none of the individuals 

who served on the jury read that newspaper or had knowledge of the 

publications). See also Maine v. Superior Court of Mendocino County, 

438 P.2d 372, 379 (Cal. 1968); Commonwealth v. Pierce, supra, at 211­
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• 
215; Commonwealth v. Frazier, supra, at 1226, 1228-30:" 

5) Publication of ex parte statements by police and other law 

enforcement officials announcing the evidence they have assembled against 

the defendant, and "describing facts, statement~ and circumstances 

which tend to create a belief in his guil~' Corona v. Superior Court 
10 

for County of Sutter, supra, at 414-15; Martinez v. Superior Court 

of Placer County, 629 P.2d 502, 505 (Cal. 1981). See Manning v. State, 

supra, at 275 (sheriff's department and state attorney's office released 

to the press their version of the facts and circumstances of the case, 

discussed the evidence which had been gathered, and released the names 

and the substance of the initial testimony of the primary witnesses); 

Singer v. State, supra, at 14-17 (constitutional guarantee of trial by 

impartial jury requires that publication of details of crime, especially 

• as they tend to connect a named person with guilt or to establish the 

10 
In Corona, at 415, the appellate court observed: 

Indispensable to any morally acceptable system 
of criminal justice is a verdict based upon 
evidence and argument received in open court, 
not from outside sources. When community 
attention is focused upon the suspect of a 
spectacular crime, the news media's dissemi­
nation of imcriminatory circumstances sharply 
threatens the integrity of the coming trial. 
The prosecution may never offer the "evidence" 
served up by the media. It may be inaccurate. 
Its inculpatory impact may diminish as new 
facts develop. It may be inadmissible at the 
trial as a matter of law. It may be hearsay. 
Its potentiality for prejudice may outweigh 
its tendency to prove guilt. It may have 
come to light as the product of an unconstitu­
tional search and seizure. If it is ultimately 
admitted at the trial, the possibility of pre­
judice still exists, for it had entered the 

• 
minds of potential jurors without the accom­
paniment of cross-examination or rebuttal. 

The goal of a fair trial in the locality of the crime 
is practicably unattainable when the jury panel has been 
bathed in streams of circumstancial incrimination 
flowing from the news media. 
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innocence of a named person, cannot be made).
 

6) Publication of statements by police and other law enforce­


ment officials expressing their certainty of the defendant's guilt. 

See e.g. Corona v. Superior Court for County of Sutter, supra, at 

416 (sheriff quoted in news media as stating "We're certain he 

committed the murders"); Martinez v. Superior Court of Placer County, 

supra, at 505-06 (release of statements by "presumably knowledgeable 

officials" indicating their belief in defendant's guilt); State v. 

Wilson, 202 S.E.2d 828, 831 (W.Va. 1974) (prosecutor made statements 

at press conference following defendant's arrest strongly indicating 

that defendant, among others, was guilty, and that main drug suppliers 

in county had been captured); State v. Thompson, 123 N.W.2d 378, 381 

(Minn. 1963) (the vice is not in printing factual news, but in publish­

• ing "what purports to be the opinions of people who are supposed to 

know the facts"; among other improper statements was a remark by an 

unnamed police official that "[w]e could have arrested this man weeks 

ago but we don't want to arrest him until our case is so overwhelmingly 

concrete it leaves no possible chan(::e £:0,]:' acquittal in a courtroom"). 

7) Publication of statements by police and other law enforcement 

officials speculating that the defendant, or his family, friends, or 

associates, will attempt to tamper with evidence or otherwise thwart 

justice. Cf. Commonwealth v. Pierce, supra, at 214 (report that district 

attorney's office refused to produce witnesses at arraignment because 

of alleged telephoned death threats); People v. Boudin, 457 N.Y.S.2d 302, 

306 (1982) (news report that document seized from accused gang member 

"may hold clues to planned attempt to break other suspects in the case 

•
 out of [jail]").
 

8) Pre-trial publication or broadcast of editorials, commentary,
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• 
or "human-interest" features of a nature which would arouse connnunity 

sympathy for, or identification with, the victims of the crime, especially 

where the crime itself is particularly brutal or shocking and would 

naturally tend to evoke emotional reactions even absent the publicity. 

See e.g. Maine v. Superior Court of Mendocino County, supra, at 378-79 

(victims, a popular teen-age couple from respected families, were 

assaulted "under circumstances that would compel any connnunity's shock 

and indiguation"; newspaper urged local citizens to contribute to fund 

to help girl's parents de,tray medical expenses); In re Miller, supra, 

at 652 (murder victim was popular policeman; donations for scholarship 

in his name were channelled through sheriff's office and flags were 

flown at half mast until funeral; newspaper published poignant account 

of mourners' emotions at funeral); Martinez v. Superior Court of Placer 

• 
County, supra, at 505-06 (victim's status in connnunity counts as factor 

in assessing risk of prejudice from a trial in the connnunity; victim 

in Martinez was described in newspaper articles as a brakesman for 

connnunity's largest employer, "and that factor undoubtedly engendered 

connnunity sympathy"). 

9) Pre-trial publication or broadcast of inflannnatory editorials 

or connnentary tending to incite connnunity outrage against "crime in the 

streets", "soft penalties for convicted criminals who are turned loose 

to prey on the public", and the like, particularly where the defendant 

is mentioned by name and his example is offered as an object lesson. 

See Connnonwealth v. Frazier, supra, at 1226 (publication of a "letter to 

the editor" entitled "Death to Child Killers", which pointed out that 

the defendant had been previously jailed on a morals charge and was on 

• parole at the time of the murders). 
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•
 

•
 

Returning now to the case of Allen Davis, it is plain to see 

that the print and broadcast media of jacksonville, using information 

served to them on a silver platter by the Jacksonville Sheriff's 

Department, managed to expose the community to inherently prejudicial 

publicity in each of the nine categories described above. All three 

of Jacksonville's network television stations and the city's two major 

newspapers all contributed substantially to the dissemination of this 
11 

material. [Contrast Hoy v. State, supra, in which the publicity 

regarding the defendant's confessions and the complained-of inflam­

matory articles were confined to one Clearwater newspaper, apparently 

with a considerably smaller circulation than the St. Petersburg 

newspaper serving the same county; and in which (unlike the present 

case) the voir dire affirmatively demonstrated that none of the jurors 

who heard the cause had seen the articles in the Clearwater paper or 

had any knowledge of the murders beyond the fact that they had occurred]. 

In Henley v. State, 576 S.W.2d 66, 71, 72 (Tex. 1978), the Texas 

Court of Criminal Appeals, citing to Rideau v. Louisiana, supra, 

observed that regardless of the successful qualification of a jury panel, 

the evidence adduced during the pre-trial change of venue hearing may 

require that a change of venue be granted in order to assure the accused 

11 
For example, the Journal, the Times-Union, Channel 4, and Channel 17 

all reported that Davis took a polygraph examination; of these four 
sources, only the Times-Union neglected to specifically mention that 
he failed it, and even that newspaper pointed out in the next sentence 
that he was arrested and booked that night. The Journal and the Times­
Union published his criminal record, in some detail, while Channel 4 
and Channel 17 described it respectively as "lengthy" and "convicted 
twice and released from Raiford." Channel 12 broadcast the Rothstein 
"piece" casting blame for the killings on Davis' parole release. All 
three TV stations, as well as the Journal, publicized Davis' alleged 
statements placing him in the Weiler house around the time of the murders. 
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• a fair and impartial trial. The court, at 71-72, said: 

Some relevant factors in determining whether 
outside influences affecting the community 
climate of opinion as to a defendant are 
inherently suspect are (1) the nature of 
pretrial publicity and the particular degree 
to which it has circulated in the community, 
(2) the connection of government officials 
with the release of the publicity, (3) the 
length of time between the dissemination of 
the publicity and the trial, (4) the severity 
and notoriety of the offense, (5) the area 
from which the jury is to be drawn, (6) 
other events occurring in the community which 
either affect or reflect the attitude of the 
community or individual jurors toward the 
defendant, and (7) any factors likely to 
affect the candor and veracity of the 
prospective jurors on voir dire. 

The criteria mentioned in Henley are worth examining in the present 

case. The first and most important factor, the nature of the pre-trial 

• publicity, has already been discussed in some detail. Its capacity for 

prejudice was enormous, especially the disclosure of the fact that 

Davis failed a polygraph examination - a fact which is (a) inadmissible 

at trial [see e. g. Codie v. State, 313 So.2d 754 (Fla. 1975)], both 

because it is (b) unreliable [see e.g. Farmer v. City of Fort Lauderdale, 

427 So.2d 187 (Fla. 1983)], and because, as a result of its "almost 

mythical aura" of objective science, it is (c) likely to be taken by 

jurors as conclusive evidence of guilt [see Farmer v. City of Fort Lauder­

dale, supra, at 191; State v. Catanese, 368 So.2d 975, 981 (La. 1979); 

Akonom v. State, 394 A.2d 1213, 1219 and n.3 (Md. App. 1978)]. Since 

this smorgasbord of inadmissible evidence, circumstantial incrimination, 

and emotional reportage was rather evenly distributed among the community's 

three major TV stations and two major newspapers, and considering the 

• audience surveys and circulation figures of these news sources in conjunction 
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• with the population of Duval County, it is clear that the prejudicial 

publicity circulated in the community to a very substantial degree. 

Second, the greater part, and the most damaging part, of the 

prejudicial publicity in this case, was directly attributable to the 

Jacksonville police. According to defense attorney Zebouni's affadavit, 

employees of the Sheriff's Department handed out copies of the arrest 

report, which contained references to Davis' having failed a polygraph 

and to his statements placing him in the victims' home· and claiming 

a loss of memory, to T.V. and radio personnel at the bond hearing (R-208, 

see R-2). The Jacksonville Journal wrote "The suspect agreed to take 

a lie detector test and failed it, officers said. They declined to 

reveal the test questions" (R-5l). Many of the prejudicial disclosures 

in the articles and broadcasts were prefaced "According to the police ••. " 

• (T-145) (statements and polygraph); "[T]he police said Davis told them••.• " 

(T-147) (statements); "Police said he voluntarily submitted .•. " (T-162) 

(polygraph); "Police say they found cord •.•. " (T-146); "The police believe 

the gun to be ••.• " (T-148); "Homicide Detective Charles Kesinger said 

Davis told him...• " (R-5l) (statements); " .•. said homicide Detective 

Jim Suber" (R-54) (polygraph); "Sources close to the investigation say 

••. " (T-148) (gun). In addition to the polygraph results and inculpatory 

statements, the police released the information that Davis' father's 

.357 caliber revolver was missing, and they believed it to be the same 

type of gun the suspect used (T-146, 148); and that nylon cord found in 

Davis' truck was believed to be identical to the cord used to tie Kristy 

Weiler's wrists (T-146,148,162). 

• 
One official, apparently Lt. Suber, was shown on Channel 4 saying 

"There might have been some doubt in people's minds, there was no doubt 

in our mind now that we have the right suspect." (T-147). It is interesting 
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to note the one aspect of this case which the police were vigilant• not to reveal - namely, the locations where divers were searching for 

the gun: 

Suber said any comments could hinder the 
investigation and that if anything were 
printed, a guard would be placed in the 
area being searched to prevent anyone from 
tampering with evidence that might be found 
there. 

* * * * * * 
Suber said his fears were not that another 
suspect might be at large, but that relatives 
or friends of Allen Lee Davis, the 37 year old 
shipyard welder charged with the triple slayings 
could try to prevent investigators from dis­
covering evidence. 

(Defendant's Exhibit 4, p. 12). 

In one fell swoop, Lt. Suber managed to publicly imply, with no 

• 12 
apparent foundation, that Davis or his relatives and friends would 

try to tamper with the evidence if given half a chance (and therefore 

13
he must be guilty), and to publicly express his absoht~ certainty that 

the police had the right suspect in custody. 

Numerous appellate courts, including this one, have condemned the 

practice of the police or prosecution "trying the case in the media." 

12 
Ironically, it was a close relative of Davis', his father Donald Davis, 

whose voluntary and largely unsolicited cooperation enab~dthe police to 
focus so quickly on Davis as a suspect, and whose testimony as a state 
witness at trial was instrumental in securing a conviction. 

13 
Note that tampering with evidence (where the defendant actually does it, 

as opposed to police merely speculating that he might do it) would be 
admissible in evidence as tending to show consciousness of guilt. See 
Daniels v. State, 108 So.2d 755, 760 (Fla. 1959); Mackiewicz v. State, 

• 
114 So.2d 684, 689 (Fla. 1959) . 

- 30 ­



• 
This Court said in Singer v. State. supra. at 16-17. and repeated in 

Manning v. State. supra, at 277: 

Prosecuting officials, being lawyers, are 
strictly prohibited • . . from making for 
publication statements which pertain to 
pending or anticipated litigation for the 
reason that such statements may interfere 
with a fair trial. All prosecutors must 
observe this canon and the courts must 
enforce its observation. 

Law enforcement officials likewise must be 
required to abstain from making pre-trial 
statements regarding the details of crimes 
under investigation by them, which statements 
tend to establish the guilt. or innocence 
of one accused of the crime. There is nothing 
to prevent announcement of the commission of 
a crime or of an arrest of one suspected of 
committing it, but they should not publish 
matters relating to evidence which they have 

• 
acquired, statements attributed to witnesses, 
or statements or confessions attributed to an 
accused. Publication of such statements, 
evidence or confession forms the basis for 
trial by newspaper. Further, such statements, 
evidence or confession either may not be 
submitted at the trial, or if offered may 
not be admitted, yet if those who sit on the 
jury have read the press version of them it is 
most difficult, if not impossible, for the 
human mind not to fill in from its extrajudicial 
knowledge that which is not offered at the 
trial or to determine the veracity of a witness 
by comparing the newspaper version of the facts 
with the testimony given at the trial. It is 
a tribute to the press that most believe as 
true what is written or spoken by the press 
media, yet it must be admitted that press 
reports are not always accurate and are 
seldom complete. Further, the accused has no 
means to answer them, nor is there any appeal 
from conviction on trial by newspaper. 

Similarly in State v. Stiltner, supra, at 1048 (in which it was 

revealed that the defendant, alone among the five suspects, had not taken 

and passed a polygraph), the Washington Supreme Court noted that disclosure 

• of the polygraph results violated the state's Bench-Bar-Press Committee 
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• guidelines. While recognizing that the guidelines do not have the 

force of law, the court also recognized that in certain instances 

particular violations may also violate due process. [Accord, Common­

wealth v. Pierce, supra, at 215]. The court noted: 

It must be made clear that the ultimate 
constitutional responsibility for guaran­
teeing a fair and impartial trial lies 
primarily with the judiciary, not the press. 
Here, the astonishing fact is that the 
prejudicial material publicized was not 
the result of overzealous news gathering 
and reporting, but was actua1IT.y released 
to the news media by the state. 

State v. Sti1ner, supr~ at 1046 n.1 

In Commonwea1thv. Pierce, supra, at 214, the Supreme Court of 

Pennsylvania expressed similar concerns: 

• 
It is not only the fact that the publicity 
was "inherently prejudicial" that troubles 
us about this case - it is also the source 
of the publicity. The information in this 
case was not reported as a result of inde­
pendent research by the representatives of 
the news media - it came directly from the 
police. It was the authorities who released 
the fact that Pierce was the confessed 
"triggerman" with a past record, and the 
police who staged the "re-enactment" of the 
crime. Moreover, the District Attorney's 
Office is not free from some blame for the 
aroused tone of the community because his 
office released statements such as: "I am 
waiting for that misguided social worker to 
begin a fast and vigil at the hospital beds 
of these most recent victims of savage law­
lessness. When the robbers are captured, I 
promise them a swift and very special treat­
ment." The District Attorney's Office also 
refused to produce witnesses at an arraign­
ment because of alleged telephone threats 
to the victims of "ultimate death." 

Statements such as those of the police and 

• 
the prosecutor in this case create an even 
more substantial risk of a denial of a fair 
trial, because of the position in the 
community these individuals hold, and also 
suggest an official disregard of safeguards 

- 32 ­



inherent dn a fair trial. Officers of the• Commonweath and the police have a special 
duty and responsibility to all of the 
citizens of the Commonwealth. They must 
never lose sight of the fact that an accused 
has a right to a fair trial by an impartial 
jury, that only a jury can "strip a man of 
his liberty," and a man is presumed innocent 
until proven guilty in a court of law, and 
that all men are guaranteed basic rights 
under the Constitution).4 [Emphasis in Court's 
opinion] 

• 

See also Rideau v. Louisiana, supra, at 725 (televised "interview" 

in which defendant confessed was carried out with active cooperation and 

participation of local law enforcement officers); Maine v. Superior Court 

of Mendocino County, supra, at 379 (one co-defendant's confession, 

implicating other defendant as well,r:eleased by an official of another 

state); Commonwealth v. Casper, 392 A2d 287, 292 (Pa. 1978)(recognizing 

that one of the factors in determining whether publicity is so inherently 

prejudicial as to warrant a presumption of prejudice is "whether such 

information is the produc~ of reports by the police and prosecutorial 

officers"). 

Third, referring to the length of time between the dissemination 

of the publicity and the trial, this would be a factor weighing in favor 

of the state's position in this case. The flood of prejudicial disclosures 

and inflammatory reporting occurred, quite naturally, at the time of 

the crime, and Davis' arrest for it, in mid-May, 1982. [It should be 

noted, however, that circumstantial incrimination through statements 

14 
Another case recognizing that intense pre-trial publicity which serves 

up evidence (admissible and inadmissible) and opinions pointing to guilt 
can strip a defendant of the presumption of innocence to which he is 

• 
constitutionally entitled is Corona v. Superior Court for County of Sutter, 
supra, at 417. See Taylor v. Kentucky, 436 U.S. 478, 485 (1978) • 
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• of the evidence in the media was still occurring in June, and the 

incredibly prejudicial Rothstein "piece" was aired in July (see 

T-172-73)]. The jury was selected on January 31, 1983 and the trial 

ran from February 1-4, 1983. Eight and one-half months had elapsed 

between the worst of the publicity and the trial. However, the 

weight which should be accorded this factor is considerably diminished 

by the fact that nine potential jurors, and three of the actual trial 

jurors, stated that they had some knowledge of the case, and as 

a result of the denial of the defense motion for individual and 

sequestered voir dire [see Issue II], neither the attorneys nor the 

trial judge were able to determine specifically what, or how much, 

these jurors knew. Thus, it is impossible to conclude that a "coo1ing­

off" period of eight and one-half months was sufficient to erase 

• the prejudice. 

Fourth, with reference to the severity and notoriety of the offense, this 

case:involves a sense1ess.tti.p1e murder of a mother and two young daughters, 

and three counts of capital murder. The state aggressively sought the 

death penalty, and got it. It is hard to imagine a more severe or 

notorious offense. See Martinez v. Superior Court of Placer County, supra, 

at 506-07, holding that the nature and gravity of the offense of capital 

murder is a primary consideration in requiring a change of venue, and 

rejecting the Attorney General's argument that the charged offense in 

that case "[did] not compare to the bizarre, heinous, and often multiple 

killings" in cases where change of venue had been granted. The California 

Supreme Court in Martinez made it clear that it was not establishing a 

• 
requirement that a change of venue be granted on request in every 
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• 
capital case; the nature and scope of the publicity remains the dominant 

factor. The Court further observed: 

The seriousness of the charged crime stands 

•
 

out clearly. Murder is a crime of utmost 
gravity; inasmuch as the state is seeking 
the death penalty, it is a crime of the 
gravest consequences to petitioner. Be­
cause it carries such grave consequences, 
a death penalty case inherently attracts 
press coverage; in such a case the factor 
of gravity must weigh heavily in a deter­
mination regarding the change of venue. 

Martinez v. Superior Court of Placer County, supr~ at 507. 

"It is vital in capital cases that the jury should pass upon the 

case free from external causes tending to disturb the exercise of 

deliberate and unbiased judgment". People v. Hogan, 647 P.2d 93, 112 

(Cal. 1982), quoting Mattox v. United States, 146 U. S. 140, 149 (1892). 

Fifth, the area from which the jury was drawn was the city of 

Jacksonville and the county of Duval (which, as a result of consolidation, 

are virtually coextensive). Duval County, with a 1980 population of 

570,981, and very little suburban development outside the county limits, 

is one of the larger Florida counties, but by no means a metropolis. 

Certainly Duval County is much larger than Columbia County, where the 

Manning case took place. On the other hand, Columbia County does not 

have any network television stations within its borders, while Duval 

County has three, each of which accounted for a substantial portion of 

the prejudicial publicity, as did both of the city's leading newspapers. 

[Contrast Hoy v. State, supra]. 

The sixth factor referred to in Henley v. State, supra - other 

events occurring in the community which either affect or reflect the 

• 
attitude of the community or individual jurors toward the defendant ­
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•
 does not appear to be applicable in this case.
 

The seventh consideration mentioned in Henley is "any [factor]
 

likely to affect the candor and veracity of the prospective jurors 

on voir dire," In the present case, there was no opportunity to question 

the prospective jurors outside one another's presence. Consequently, 

it was impossible to determine what, or how much, of the inadmissible 

or prejudicial information had been digested by the nine prospective 

jurors, and three actual jurors, who said they knew something about 

the case. In his concurring opinion (joined by Justices Stewart and 

Marshall) in Nebraska Press Association v. Stuart, 427 u.S. 539, 602 

(1976), Justice Brennan observed that, in order to protect the Sixth 

Amendment rights of the accused in a case where there has been incrimi­

nating publicity:

• ••. the trial judge should employ the voir dire 
to probe fully into the effect of publicity. 
The judge should broadly explore such matters 
as the extent to which prospective jurors had 
read particular news accounts or whether they 
had heard about incriminating data such as an 
alleged confession or statements by purportedly 
reliable sources concerning the defendant's 
guilt. See, e.g., Ham v. South Carolina, 409 
u.S. 524, 531-534 (1973) (opinion of Marshall, J.); 
Swain v. Alabama, 380 u.S. 202, 209-222 (1965). 
Particularly in cases of extensive publicity, 
defense counsel should be accorded more latitude 
in personally asking or tendering searching 
questions that might root out indications of 
bias, both to facilitate intelligent exercise 
of peremptory challenges and to help uncover 
facts that would dictate disqualification for 
cause. Indeed, it may sometimes be necessary 
to question on voir dire prospective jurors 
individually or in small groups both to 
maximize the likelihood that menbers of the 
venire will respond honestly to questions con­
cerning bias, and to avoid contaminating 

• 
unbiased members of the venire when other 
members disclose prior knowledge of prejudicial 
information. 
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• See also State v. Stiltner, supra, at 1048; United States v • 

Hawkins, 658 F.2d 279, 283 (5th Cir. 1981); United States v. Davis, 

583 F.2d 190, 196 (5th Cir. 1978); Section 3.4(a), ABA Standards 

Relating to Fair Trial and Free Press (Approved Draft 1968). 

Moreover, as was observed in Irvin v. Dowd, 366 u.S. 717, 728 

(1961): 

No doubt each juror was sincere when he said 
that he would be fair and impartial . • . 
but the psycholQgical impact requiring such a 
declaration before one's fellows is often its 
father. 

See Pamplin v. Mason~ 364 F.2d 1, 6-7 (5th Cir. 1966). 

In view of the overwhelm~lyprejudicialcontentof the pre-trial 

publicity in this case, and considering the various other factors which 

come into play, it is appellant's position that the evidence presented 

at the change of venue hearing required that a change of venue be granted, 

as a matter of due process. See Rideau v. Louisiana~ supra; Groppi v. 

Wisconsin, 400 u.S. 505, 510 (1971); Oliver v. Sta4e~ supra; Pamplin v. 

Mason, supra; State v. Stiltner~ supra; Commonwealth VL Pierce, supra. The 

trial court's decision, over defense objection (T-272), to defer ruling 

on the issue until an attempt had been made to empanel a jury in Duval 

County, was, under the circumstances of this case, an abuse of discretion, 

because the pre-trial release to the public, through the media and the 

police, of such a melange of inadmissible evidence, incriminating facts, 

statements~ and circumstances, and emotionally loaded reportage was so 

inherently and fundamentally destructive of his right to a fair trial 

before an impartial jury that the voir dire process was incapable of 

• 
curing it. See Rideau v. Louisiana~ supra; Groppi v. Wisconsin, supra, 

400 u.S. at 510; Oliver v. State, supra; State v. Stiltner, supra. 
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• C. The Prejudicial Impact of the Pre-Trial Publicity was not 
Cured by the Voir Dire Examination of Prospective Jurors 

Assuming arguendo that the prejudice engendered by the pre-trial 

• 

publicity could have been cured by the VQiLdireexaminatiQn~ 

the fact remains that in this case it was not cured. For reasons that 

will be discussed more fully in Issue IIJ the trial court's denial of 

the defense's motion for individual and sequestered voir dire ensured 

that the voir dire examination would not reveal the extent to which 

particular prospective jurors were acquainted with the purported facts 

(some of trerninadmissible) which were disclosed in the media. For 

one example, did Mrs. Richardson (who served on the jury, and who knew 

something about the case from the newspaper and TV (T-65l)) know about 

Davis' failure of the polygraph test? If she did, she would have been 

subject to a challenge for cause without regard to her testimony that 

she could be fair and impartial. See State v. Goodson, 412 So.2d 1077, 

1081 (La. 1982). But because each prospective juror was questioned in 

the presence of the others, the attorneys couldn't ask, Mrs. Richardson 

couldn't say, and the record doesn't reveal, whether she read or heard 

that particular piece of information, or whether she remembered it. 

[Indeed, on several occasions the prosecutor expressly told prospective 

jurors not to mention the specifics of what they heard, but only whether 

they thought it (whatever it was) would interfere with their ability to 

be fair and impartial (T-560-6l, 601-02)]. It is well recognized that 

where a juror has been exposed to prejudicial publicity, his assurances 

that he can be impartial and give the defendant a fair trial are not 

necessarily dispositive. Sheppard v. Maxwell, 384 U.S. 333, 351 (1966); 

• Singer v. State, supra at 24; Leon v. State, 396 So.2d 203, 205 (Fla. 
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• 3rd DCA 1981); People v. Boudin, supra, at 305; State v. Goodson, supra, 

at 1080. Where the nature of the publicity as a whole raises a significant 

possibility of prejudice, and a juror acknowledges some exposure to that 

publicity, it is the responsibility of the trial court, not the juror 

himself, to make the ultimate determination of whether his impartiality 

has been impaired. United States v.Hawkins, 658 F.2d 279, 283, 285 

(5th Cir. 1981); United States v. Davis, 583 F.2d 190, 197 (5th Cir. 1978). 

Because the attorneys and the court in this case were unable to determine 

what each juror had heard or read, the trial court was unable to fulfill 

this constitutional responsibility. See United States v. Hawkins, supra; 

United States v. Davis, supra. Thus, aside from the question of whether 

the trial court's denial of the defense's motion for individual and 

sequestered voir dire was reversible error in itself [Issue IIJ~_ it is clear 

• that, as a direct consequence of this ruling, the voir dire examination 

of prospective jurors in this case could not begin to cure the impact of the 

prejudicial publicity, or obviate the necessity for a change of venue. 

The state is likely to contend that the fact that defense counsel 

accepted the jury without renewing his motion for a change of venue and 

15
without exhausting his peremptory challenges waived his right to a change 

of venue. In anticipation of such an argument, appellant would point out: 

1) So did Manning's lawyer. Justice Alderman, dissenting in Manning 

v. State, supra, pointed out that defense counsel there accepted the jury 

without renewing his motion for change of venue or exhausting his peremp­

15 
The defense was permitted thirteen peremptory challenges, and used 

twelve of them. At lease three jurors who admitted to having some 

• 
knowledge about the case served on the jury. Contrast Hoy v. State, 
supra (defense permitted forty peremptory challenges and used twenty­
five; voir dire affirmatively demonstrated that nmeof the jurors who 
heard the case hadacquired any potentially prejudicial information). 
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• tory challenges, and stated "[I]t would appear to us that we have a 

fair and impartial jury here." Yet the majority of this Court concluded 

that under the circumstances of the case, the trial court abused its 

discretion in failing to grant a change of venue, and reversed Manning's 

conviction for a new trial in a location other than Columbia County. 

Even Justice Alderman's dissent, while pointing out that the motion was 

not renewed prior to acceptance of the jury, does not appear to express 

the view that Manning's right to a change of venue was waived or not 

preserved for review; rather, the dissent appears to consider defense 

counsel's apparent satisfaction with the jury as a factor supporting 

its position that the trial court's determination that a fair jury 

could be selected in Columbia County was not, under all the circumstances 

of the case, an abuse of discretion. The publicity in the present case, 

• while not as concentrated as that in Manning, had even more capacity for 

prejudice, in that it conveyed such a broad variety of information, 

speculation, and opinion - all strongly tending to establish Davis' 

guilt - much of which was inadmissible at trial precisely because of its 

capacity for prejudice (~.g., his prior criminal record and parolee 

status) and its unreliability (e.g., the polygraph results). 

2) The primary thrust of appellant's argument is that he was 

entitled to a change of venue, as a matter of due process, on the basis 

of the evidence adduced at the change of venue hearing, without regard 

to voir dire. The trial court's decision to defer his ruling until 

an attempt had been made to select a Duval County jury was objected to 

by the defense (T-272), which adhered to its position that the damage 

• 
had already been done, and that a change of venue was necessary to 

ensure a fair trial (T-223, 272). When Frank Tassone replaced the Public 
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• Defender's office as appointed counsel, he adopted a number of motions 

previously filed on behalf of the defendant, including the motion for 

change of venue and the motion for individual and sequestered voir dire 

(R-269). Therefore, the issue of whether a change of venue was 

constitutionally required on the basis of the evidence presented at the 

hearing, without regard to voir dire, is fully preserved. The only 

real question regarding the voir dire is whether it cured the trial 

court's error in refusing to grant the change of venue; the answer, 

appellant submits, is that it could not and did not. 

3) Finally, it must be emphasized that "••.. to safeguard the 

due process rights of the accused, a trial judge has an affirmative 

constitutional duty to minimize the effects of prejudicial pretrial 

publicity. II Gannett Co. v. DePasquale, 443 u.s. 368, 378 (1979); see 

• Sheppard v. Maxwell, supra; United States v. Hawkins, supra, at 285. 

In the present case, the trial court could have fulfilled this obliga­

tion by granting a change of venue; conceivably, he might also have been 

able to fulfilL it had he granted the defense's motion for individual and 

sequestered voir dire, but he did neither. All of the newspaper articles 

and videotaped news broadcasts in which the prejudicial publicity was 

contained were brought to the trial court's attention at the hearing. 

The trial court was aware that nine prospective jurors had been exposed 

to that publicity, and he was aware that the voir dire examination did 

not reveal what they had read, what they had heard, what they knew, or 

what they remembered. He had every opportunity to take protective measures 

to safeguard appellant's right to a fair and impartial jury. In the 

• 
much different context of requested jury instructions, which do not 

ordinarily reach to the fundamental integrity of the trial, and with 
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• 
regard to which the trial court is not necessarily under an affirmative 

constitutional obligation to safeguard the defendant's rights, this 

Court has observed: 

The requirement of a contemporaneous objection 
is based on practical necessity and basic 
fairness in the operation of a judicial system. 
It places the trial judge on notice that error 
may have been committed, and provides him an 
opportunity to correct it at an early stage of 
the proceedings. Delay and an unnecessary use 
of the appellate process result from a failure 
to cure early that which must be cured eventually. 

Castor v. State, 365 So.2d 701, 703 (1978). 

In the present case, the defense moved for a change of venue, 

presented a great deal of evidence that there was a compelling need 

for a change of venue, objected to the failure to grant it, and moved 

16
for individual and sequestered voir dire. The trial court was fully 

• 
on notice of the serious impediment to appellant's right to a fair 

trial which had been created by the prejudicial publicity, and he had 

both an opportunity, and a constitutional obligation, to take corrective 

action. 

16 
Contrast In re Miller, 109 Cal. Rptr. 648, 653-54 (Cal.App. 1973), 

holding that under the circumstances of the case, trial counsel's 
"failure to bring all of the pertinent factors to the [trial] court's 
attention, to supply the court with articles of the pretrial news 
coverage or transcripts of radio broadcasts and television telecasts 
or opinion polls, or to request judicial restriction on the dissemina­
tion of prejudicial information through statements of attorneys, law 
enforcement officers or court personnel" was "a grave omission [which] 
may have deprived the defendant of his constitutional right to have his 
trial held in a neutral forum." 

•
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• ISSUE II 

THE TRIAL COURT ABUSED ITS DISCRETION IN 
DENYING THE DEFENSE'S MOTION FOR INDIVIDUAL 
AND SEQUESTERED VOIR DIRE. 

Shortly after appellant was indicted, the defense filed a motion 

for individual and sequestered voir dire, in which it requested the 

trial court to order that prospective jurors be questioned individually 

and out of the hearing of other prospective jurors, for the purposes of 

ascertaining their knowledge of the case based on pre-trial publicity 

and discerning their attitudes toward capital punishment. The motion 

stated, inter alia, the following grounds: 

• 
A. In order to obtain a fair and impartial 
jury, it is absolutely essential to inquire of 
each prospective juror about his knowledge of 
the offense,. the parties, and the witnesses. 
It is necessary to inquire what the venireman's 
knowledge is and to ask questions to determine 
how that knowledge will affect his deliberations. 

1. By explaining what he has heard about the 
charges or what he knows about parties or witnesses, 
a venireman may very likely impart his knowledge 
to the other prospective jurors unless there is 
individual, sequestered voir dire. Such knowledge, 
which is often based on opinion, rumors, hearsay, 
media coverage, and other sources of inadmissible 
evidence, can taint the entire venire that is 
exposed to it and serve to deny the Defendant a 
fair trial by an impartial jury. See Russ v. State, 
95 So.2d 594 (Fla. 1957); Moncur v. State, 262 
So.2d 688 (2 DCA 1972); Marrero v. State, 343 So.2d 
833 (2 DCA 1977); Kelly v. State, 371 So.2d 162 
(1 DCA 1979). 

2. Whenever there is believed to be a significant 
possibility that individual talesman will be ineligible 
to serve because of exposure to potentially prejudicial 
material, the examination of each juror with respect 
to his exposure shall take place outside the presence 
of other chosen and prospective jurors. Standard No. 
3.4, American Bar Association, Standards Relating to 

• 
Fair Trial and Free Press; U.S. ex reI. Doggett v. 
Yeager, 472 F.2d 229 (3 CCA 1973) 

(R-142). 
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• 
Immediately prior to jury selection, defense counsel called 

the trial court's attention to the pending motions for individual 

and sequestered voir dire and for additional peremptory challenges 

(T-532). The court denied the motion for individual and sequestered 

voir dire, and granted each side three additional peremptory challenges 

(T-532) . 

• 

Although a trial court has broad discretion in its conduct of 

voir dire, this discretion is limited by the requirements of due process. 

United States v. Hawkins, 658 F.2d 279, 283 (5th Cir. 1981); United 

States V. Gerald, 624 F.2d 1291, 1296 (5th Cir. 1980). See also United 

States V. Rucker, 557 F.2d 1046, 1049 (4th Cir. 1977); United States V. 

Nell, 526 F.2d 1223, 1229 (5th Cir. 1976); Leon v .. Stg,te, 396 So.2d 203, 

205 (Fla. 3d DCA 1981) (exercise of trial court's discretion in conduct 

of voir dire is limited by "essential demands of fairness"). In order 

to satisfy the requirements of due process, the method of voir dire 

adopted by the trial court must be capable of giving reasonable assurance 

that prejudice would be discovered if present. United States V. Hawkins, 

supra, at 283, 285; United States V. Gerald, supra, at 1296; United States 

v. Nell, supra, at 1229; United States V. Chagra, 669 F.2d 241, 253 (5th 

Cir. 1982). In view of the volume of prejudicial publicity and pre-trial 

disclosure of inadmissible evidence in the present case, the trial court's 

ruling, and the consequent examination of the prospective jurors in 

each other's presence, virtually guaranteed that any prejudice created by 

the publicity would not be discovered. 

In State V. Stiltner, supra, the case in which it was revealed in 

the press that all suspects but the defendant had taken and passed a 

• polygraph examination, both the trial court and the Supreme Court of 
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Washington recognized the "Catch-22" faced by defense counsel in trying• the ferret out the prejudice created by pre-trial disclosure of such 

inadmissible material. The trial judge in Stiltner had said: 

Now this court recognizes the dilemma that 
Mr. Roy [defense counsel] is put in this 
matter and should comment, it seems to me, 
at this point. He is in a position where 
he must ask a juror whether or not he re­
members a certain thing that he doesn't 
want him to remember and by doing so he 
may quicken or refresh that memory as to 
a newspaper article that may otherwise have 
been forgotten. 

State v. Stiltner, supra, at 1048. 

In the present case, counsel obviously could not ask a prospective 

juror if he had read or heard that Allen Davis failed a polygraph, or 

admitted being in the Wei1ers' home, or had served time for several 

• armed robberies, without conveying to the juror and the rest of the venire 

the very information they hopefully did not know. [This is one of the 

main reasons why the inherently prejudicial publicity could not be cured 

by voir dire, and a change of venue was constitutionally required, State 

• 

v. Stiltner, supra; Issue I, infra]. But if counsel had been permitted 

to examine the prospective jurors outside one another's presence, then 

at least they could have asked each juror what he knew about the case 

without running the risk of the juror's honest answer contaminating the 

entire venire. With so much 'inadmissible evidence let loose in the 

community before trial, and with at least nine prospective jurors ad­

mitting to some exposure to the publicity, the chances of something 

like this occurring were excellent. So neither the attorneys nor the 

court ever determined the nature or extent of the extrajudicial knowledge 

which these prospective jurors brought with them to court. The prosecutor 

twice indicated to the jurors that he did not want to know the details 
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• of what they read or heard, but only whether they thought it would 

interfere with their ability to be impartial (T-560-51, 601-02). Given 

the fact that the jurors were being questioned in each other's presence, 

such caUition was prudent. But this method of voir dire did not "give 

reasonable assurance that prejudice would be discovered if present", 

and did not adequately protect appellant's right to a fair and impartial 

jury. United States v. Hawkins, supra; United States v. Davis, 583 

F.2d 190 (5th Cir. 1978). 

In State v. Goodson, 412 So.2d 1077 (La. 1982), the Supreme Court 

of Louisiana concluded that the defendant had failed to establish that 

the publicity in his case was of such a character as to create a 

presumption of prejudice which would require a change of venue without 

regard to voir dire. With respect to actual prejudice, the court 

• noted that, as there had not yet been a voir dire examination, it was 

impossible to determine whether it existed or not. The court remanded 

the case to the trial court with instructions to defer ruling on a 

change of venue until completion of voir dire. Because serious questions 

of potentially prejudicial publicity were involved, the court further 

instructed the trial court that the voir dire should be conducted according 

to the following guidelines, based upon Section 8-3.5, American Bar 

17
Association Standards Relating to Fair Trial and Free Press: 

Since there is a significant possibility that 
individual jurors will be ineligible to serve 
because of exposure to potentially prejudicial 
material, the examination of each juror. 

17 
With reference to the A.B.A. Standard, see also United States v. Hawkins, 

supra, at 283; United States v. Davis, supra, at 196,197-98. 
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• with respect to exposure shall take place 
outside the presence of other chosen and 
prospective jurors. An accurate record of 
this examination shall be kept by court 
reporter or tape recording whenever possible. 
The questioning shall be conducted for the 
purpose of determining what the prospective 
juror has read and heard about the case and 
how any exposure has affected that person's 
attitude toward the trial, not to convince 
the prospective juror that an inability to 
cast aside any preconceptions would be a 
dereliction of duty. 

Both the degree of exposure and the prospective 
juror's testimony as to state of mind are 
relevant to the determination of acceptability. 
A prospective juror testifying to an inability 
to overcome preconceptions shall be subject to 
challenge for cause no matter how slight the 
exposure. If the prospective juror remembers 
information that will be developed in the course 
of the trial, or that may be inadmissible but 
does not create a substantial risk of impairing 
judgment, that person's acceptability shall 

• turn on the credibility of testimony as to 
impartiality. If the formation of an opinion 
is admitted, the prospective juror shall be 
subject to challenge for cause unless the 
examination shows unequivocally the capacity 
to be impartial. A prospective juror who has 
been exposed to and remembers reports of highly 
significant information, such as the existence 
or contents of a confession, or other incrimi­
nating matters that may be inadmissible in 
eVidence, or substantial amounts of inflammatory 
material, shall be subject to challenge for cause 
without regard to the prospective juror's testi­
mony as to state of mind. 

State v. Goodson, supra, at 1081. 

If, in the instant case, the motion for individual and sequestered 

voir dire had been granted, counsel would have been able to ask each 

prospective juro~ "Specifically, what have you read or heard about this 

case1" If a juror answered "I heard he flunked a lie detector" [such 

• 
information being highly inculpatory, notoriously unreliable, and wholly 

inadmissible], that juror would have been immediately subject to a challenge 
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• 
for cause, without regard to his own assessment of his ability to 

be impartial. State v. Goodson, supra. See Sheppard v. Maxwell, 384 

U.S. 333, 351 (1966); Singer v. State, 109 So.2d 7, 24 (Fla. 1959); 

Leon v. State, 396 So.2d 203, 205 (Fla. 3d DCA 1981). If another 

juror said, "The only thing I remember is something about his father's 

gun being missing", that juror would not necessarily be disqualiff.i:ed 

if the trial court found his assurances of impartiality to be credible, 

but his extrajudicial exposure to facts and circumstances of the case 

might strongly influence counsel's decision whether or not to expend 

a peremptory challenge. If a third juror said "I just remember hearing 

on TV that it happened", such minimal exposure would presumably be 

of little consequence to anyone [See Hoy v. State, supra]. 

• 
Three of the people who served on appellant's jury acknowledged having 

some extrajudicial knowledge about the case. Considering the character of 

the pre-trial disclosures made by the police and the media, there is a 

distinct possibility that some of this knowledge was inadmissible in 

addition to being highly prejudicial; such knowledge on the part of a 

juror, if revealed on voir dire, would have made him subject to a 

challenge for cause. Yet the method of voir dire used in this case 

virtually ensured that such knowledge, if it existed, would not be 

revealed. Consequently, the trial court's denial of the defense's 

motion for individual and sequestered voir dire not only deprived appel­

lant of due process [United States v. Hawkins, supra; United States 

v. Davis, supra], it also impaired, indeed effectively destroyed, his 

ability to exercise his challenges for cause and his peremptory challenges 

in a reasonably intelligent manner. See United States v. Rucker, 557 

• F.2d 1046, 1048 (4th Cir. 1977), in which the appellate court observed 

that "a defendant is entitled to have sufficient information brought out 

-48­



• on voir dire to enable him to exercise his challenges in a reasonably 

intelligent manner", and further stated: 

While the conduct of a voir dire examination 
is a matter within the broad discretion of 
the trial judge, Ristaino v. Ross, 424 U.S. 
589, 594, 96 S.Ct. 1017, 47 L.Ed.2d 258 
(1976); Ham v. South Carolina, 409 U.S. 524, 
93 S.Ct. 848, 35 L.Ed.2d 46 (1973); Aldridge 
v. United States, 283 U.S. 308, 51 S.Ct. 470, 
75 L.Ed. 1054 (1931), the exercise of that 
discretion is limited by "the essential 
demands of fairness." Aldridge, supra, at 
310, 51 S.Ct. 470. A voir dire that has the 
effect of impairing the defendant's ability 
to exercise intelligently his challenges is 
ground for reversal, irrespective of prejudice. 
Swain v. Alabama, supra, 380 U.S. at 219, 85 
S.Ct. 824; United States v. Lewin, 467 F.2d 1132 
(7th Cir. 1972). 

United States v. Rucke~, supra, at 1049. 

See also United States v. Brooklier, 685 F.2d 1208, 1223 (9th Cir. 

• 1982); Carr v. Watts, 597 F.2d 830, 833 (2d Cir. 1979); United States 

v. Turner, 558 F.2d 535, 538-39 (9th Cir. 1977) (impairment of defendant's 

right to exercise peremptory challenges is reversible error, irrespective 

of prejudice); United States v. Mobley, 656 F.2d 988, 990 (5th Cir. 1981); 

State v. Morrison, 557 SW.2d 445, 446-47) (Mo. 1977)(defendant is entitled 

to a full panel of qualified jurors and to his full complement of genuinely 

peremptory challenges, and cannot be forced to "trade-off" one of these 

rights for the other; consequently, the erroneous denial of a challenge 

for cause is reversible error notwithstanding the fact that the defense 

may have used one of its peremptory challenges to remove the juror, or 

may not have exhausted its peremptory challenges). 

Where there has been potentially prejudicial media coverage in 

• 
a criminal case, and where a significant possibility exists that a juror 
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• 
may be ineligible to serve because of exposure to such publicity, it 

is the obligation of the court, not the juror, to determine whether 

the juror's impartiality has been destroyed. United States v. Hawkins, 

supra, at 285; United States v. Davis, supra, at 197. In order to meet 

this responsibility, the court must at least determine (through his 

own questioning or that of counsel) "what in particular each juror had 

heard or read and how it affected his attitude toward the trial." 

United States v. Hawkins, supra, at 283, 285; United States v. Davis, 

supra, at 196-97; State v. Goodson, supra, at 1081; see also United 

States v. Chagra, supra, at 253-54. The trial court is under an 

affirmative constitutional duty to minimize the effects of prejudicial 

pretrial publicity. Gannett Co. v. DePasquale, supra; Sheppard v. Maxwell, 

supra; United States v. Hawkins, supra. Instead, the manner in which 

• 
the voir dire examination was conducted in the instant case was not only 

ill-equipped to minimize the effects of the publicity, it actually served 

to insulate whatever prejudicial information the Jurors might have had 

from coming to light. The method of voir dire utilized by the trial court 

was clearly not, under the circumstances of this case, "capable of giving 

resonable assurance that prejudice would be discovered if present" 

[United States v. Hawkins, supra; United States v. Gerald, supra], 

and reversal for a new trial is therefore required. 

ISSUE III 

THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN DENYING APPELLANT'S 
CHALLENGE FOR CAUSE TO PROSPECTIVE JUROR LANE. 

During the voir dire examination, the following colloquy occurred: 

MR. TASSONE [defense counsel]: Okay. Mrs. Lane, 
during the co~seof some of the questions that 

• 
Judge Harding asked, I wrote down the fact or 
wrote down your number and it may be incorrect 
but you had some knowledge about this particular 
case. Was that incorrect? 
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MRS. LANE: Just watching televison.• MR. TASSONE: Okay. And that particular knowledge, 
would that prevent you from sitting as a fair and 
impartial juror in this particular case? 

MRS. LANE: Well, I have mentioned emotions; I know 
what I feel about it and not very much. 

MR. TASSONE: Well, all right. You have your own 
particular emotions in connection with this case. 

MRS. LANE: Yes. 

MR. TASSONE: Okay. And that, I assume, comes from 
news accounts, is that correct? 

MRS. LANE: Right. Right. 

MR. TASSONE: If the Judge were to instruct you that 
any evidence or any -- that your verdict will be 

• 
based solely on the evidence and testimony as it 
comes from the witness stand, would you be able to 
separate that? And it is a difficult thing to ask, 
to sit there and say well, no, I might have known 
this from a newspaper account as opposed to what 
occurred on the witness stand. 

MRS. LANE: Well, in your home, in your discussions, 
with your husband and all, you say I think such and 
such and I don't know whether I should serve or not. 

MR. TASSONE: Well, in the final analysis, my question 
would be: Could you give Allen Lee Davis a fair trial 
or do you have a preconceived notion of guilt or inno­
cence that you would not be able to set aside to give 
either Mr. Davis or the State of Florida a fair trial? 

MRS. LANE: Well, I still say I have my feelings. I 
feel that I know in my heart how I feel. 

MR. TASSONE: Well, this is like Mr. Austin explained to 
you, this is the only opportunity that the attorneys 
have of questioning the prospective jurors and, 
obviously in a case of this nature, Mr. Davis is 
charged with three counts of first degree murder 
and your have heard the State Attorneys say that 
they would be asking the jury to recommend death. 
Okay. And this is very important to Mr. Davis and 
I don't mean to be questioning you to such an extent 

• 
but it's very important; could you give Mr. Davis a 
fair trial and if you'd like some time to think about 
that, I will come back to you? If you can answer 
it now? 
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• 
MRS. LANE: Well, I guess I can give him a fair 
trial but, really, I know how I feel about it. 

MR. TASSONE: Okay. Have you made up your mind 
as to this particular case? 

MRS. LANE: More or less. 

(T-644-46). 

Shortly thereafter, defense counsel challenged Mrs. Lane for 

cause on the ground that she could not render a fair and impartial 

verdict (T-667). The trial court said: 

She said that initially but then the last time 
you inquired of her, she said that she could 
listen to all of the evidence and render a 
verdict based on that, so I will deny your motion. 

(T-667) . 

The prosecutor chimed i~ "I think she was confused but when she 

understood, I think she said she could be a fair and impartial juror."

• (T-667) • 

Defense counsel at that point exercised six of his peremptory 

challenges, one of them on Mrs. Lane (T-667-68). 

It should first be pointed out that even if the trial court and the 

prosecutor had been correct in recalling that Mrs. Lane said she could 

be fair and impartial and could render a verdict based on the evidence, 

she still would have been properly subject to a challenge for cause, as 

a result of the obvious incompatibility of those bland assurances of 

impartiality with her statements that she had emotions about the case 

from watching news accounts on televisio~ that she knew in her heart 

how she felt, that she had discussed the case with her husband and didn't 

know whether she should serve on the jury, and, most of all, that she 

• 
had already "more or less" made up her mind about the case. 

In Singer v. State, 109 So.2d 7, 24, this Court said: 
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• [A] juror's statement that he can and will 
return a verdict according to the evidence 
submitted and the law announced at the 
trial is not determinative of his compe­
tence, if it appears from other statements 
made by him or from other evidence that he 
is not possessed of a state of mind which 
will enable him to do so. 

See also Irvin v. Dowd, 366 u.S. 717 (1961); Johnson v. Reynolds, 

121 So. 793, 796 (Fla. 1929); Leon v. State, 396 So.2d 203, 205 (Fla. 

3d DCA 1981). 

Mrs. Lane would fit that description to a T, if she had said 

she could return a verdict according to the evidence, but in fact she 

didn't even say that. Mrs. Lane only spoke two sentences after her 

admission that she had already more or less made up her mind. She 

• 
was asked whether she would attach any special significance to the 

fact that State Attorney Ed Austin was participating in the trial, and 

she said "No". (T-657). And when the prospective jurors were asked 

whether the fact that the victims were a mother and her two children 

would prejudice them to the point that they could not give Allen Davis 

a fair trial, the responses were: 

MR. TASSONE: Mrs. Richardson? 

MRS. RICHARDSON: No. 

MR. TASSONE: Mr. Johnson? 

MR. JOHNSON: No. 

MR. TASSONE: Dr. Veach? 

DR. VEACH: No. 

MR. TASSONE: Mr. Griswold? 

MR. GRISWOLD: No. 

• MR. TASSONE: Mrs. Lane? 
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• MRS. LANE: I would be willing to listen to 
the evidence and consider it. 

(T-663). 

• 

There is obviously a major difference between being able to render 

a verdict based solely on the evidence, and being able to "consider" 

the evidence. The clear implication of Mrs. Lane's remark is that she 

could consider the evidence along with her emotions and preconceptions 

about the case, which she freely admitted to having. Far from "curing" 

the earlier statements which amply demonstrated her bias, her basically 

non-responsive comment about being willing to consider the evidence 

essentially re-affirmed those statements. Appellant is not faulting 

Mrs. Lane; she was honest. But she was not qualified to serve as a 

juror in a case which she had already "more or less" decided based on 

television news accounts. 

The trial court's denial of a challenge for cause which clearly 

should have been granted was error which requires reversal; it was 

neither "cured" nor waived by the fact that defense counsel did not 

exhaust his peremptory challenges. Any error, including an erroneous 

denial of a challenge for cause, which impairs the exercise of peremptory 

challenges is reversible error, and no showing of prejudice is required. 

See Swain v. Alabama, 380 U.S. 202, 219 (1965); State v •. Morrison, 

557 S.W.2d 445, 446-47 (Mo. 1977); United States v. Mobley, 656 F.2d 

988, 989-90 (5th Gir. 1981); United States v. Brooklier, 685 F.2d 1208, 

1223 (9th Gir. 1982); Garr v. Watts, 597 F.2d 830 (2nd Gir. 1979); 

United States v. Turner, 558 F.2d 535 (9th Gir. 1977); Worthen v. State, 

399 A.2d 272, 278 n.3 (Md.App. 1979). The reasoning behind this rule 

• was best explained in State v. Morrison, supra, at 446: 
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• Defendant asserts the trial court erred 
in failing to strike venireman Sharon 
Pierson for cause, she having, in response 
to a question. asking if any of the panel 

• 

had read or learned about the case in the 
radio, newspapers or otherwise, answered, 
"I read about it, the previous trial", 
apparently referring to defendant's trial 
a month earlier on a similar charge, but 
that she had formed no opinion as to 
guilt or innocence. The court of appeals 
overruled the claim of error on the part 
of the trial court in overruling the 
challenge for cause, but, as said, did 
so on the ground that defendant was not 
in a position to raise the point because 
he failed to show that she served either 
because defendant's peremptory challenges 
were exhausted or else that she was removed 
by his exercising one of his peremptory 
challenges, citing State v. Londe, 345 
Mo. 185, 132 S.W.2d 501, 504 (1939) and 
State v. Simpson, 529 S.W.2d 19, 21 (Mo. 
App. 1975). This holding is not correct. 
Under the law defendant is entitled both to 
a qualified panel and the statutory number 
of peremptory challenges. He need not sac­
rifice one to the other. The law was well 
stated by Somerville, J., in State v. Thomp­
son, 541 S.W.2d 16, 17 (Mo.App.1976) as 
follows: 

This state has steadfastly hewed 
to the proposition that an accused 
in a criminal case must be afforded 
a full panel of qualified jurors 
before he is required to expend his 
peremptory challenges, and denial by 
a trial court of a legitimate request 
by an accused to excuse for cause a 
partial or prejudiced venireman 
constitutes reversible error. State 
v. DeClue, 400 S.W.2d 50 (Mo. 1966); 
State v. Land, 478 S.W.2d 290 (Mo. 
1972); State v. Lovell, 506 S.W.2d 
441 (Mo. bane 1974). This proposition 
is rooted in the constitutionally 
guaranteed right of every accused to 
a "public trial by an impartial jury", 
Mo. Const. Art. 1, Sec. l8(a), and 

• 
personifies a dedicated judicial effort 
to preserve inviolate this constitu­
tionally guaranteed right in the 
broadest sense. Experience has taught 
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•
 that it is not always possible to object­

ively demonstrate juror partiality. Not
 
infrequently, juror partiality is subtle,
 
elusive, and highly subjective. When 

• 

juror partiality is capable of being 
objectively demonstrated, challenges for 
cause have been devised as a means for 
achieving impartial jury. When juror 
partiality is sensed, but incapable of 
being objectively demonstrated, peremptory 
challenges have been devised as a means 
for achieving an impartial jury. Together, 
they serve the ultimate goal of obtaining 
a jury free from the taint of both object­
ively demonstrated and subjectively sensed 
partiality. Purity of the right to be 
tried by an impartial jury is so zealouly 
guarded that an accused may covet his 
peremptory challenges and "spend" them 
as he alone sees fit. Therefore, if 
an accused is not presented with a full 
panel of jurors objectively demonstrated 
as qualified before he exercises his 
peremptory challenges, his given number 
of peremptory challenges is proportionately 
reduced and his right to "spend" them 
as he alone sees fit is accordingly im­
pinged. The strength and integrity of 
trial by jury in a criminal case lies in 
the composite impartiality of the jury 
finally selected to try a particular case, 
and both are eroded to an unknoWl extent 
when even a single or isolated instance of 
partiality creeps in, whether objectively 
demonstrated or subjectively sensed. 

On the basis of the foregoing reasoning, the court in Morrison 

squarely held (at 447) that in ~determining. on appeal the propriety 

of a trial court's ruling on a challenge for cause, in a criminal or 

civil case, "it is improper to mix with it a consideration of the 

question as to whether or not the complaining party had exhausted his 

peremptory challenges." 

While the decision in Morrison is based on Missouri's constitu­

• 
tional provision guaranteeing an accused the right to a "public trial 
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• by an impartial jury", appellant submits that the same principles 

are applicable under the Sixth Amendment to the United States Consti­

tution and Article 1, Section 22 of the Florida Constitution. See 

Swain v. Alabama, supra, United States v. Mobley, supra; United States 

v. Rucker, 557 F.2d 1046, 1049 (4th Cir. 1977); United States v. Brook­

lier, supra; Carr v. Watts, supra; United States v. Turner, supra. 

ISSUE IV 

THE TRIAL COURT ABUSED ITS DISCRETION IN 
DENYING APPELLANT'S MOTION FOR MISTRIAL, 
WHEN A STATE WITNESS ON RE-DIRECT EXAMINA­
TION REFERRED TO APPELLANT'S POLYGRAPH 
EXAMINATION. 

During the change of venue hearing, when defense counsel was 

emphasizing the extreme danger of prejudice created by the media's 

• disclosure that appellant failed a polygraph examination, counsel 

argued: 

Certainly, as Your Honor is well aware, 
the mere mention of polygraph during a 
trial would result in a mistrial immedi­
ately. Yet here we have most certainly 
a substantial portion of our community 
exposed to the fact that this man has 
failed a polygraph by virtue of information 
disseminated by the media. 

Surely, anyone that saw or heard that would 
have to be excused because he could not 
consider the defendant's trial testimony 
fairly and impartially. Certainly, he 
could not fail to consider that or be 
influenced by it in some manner. The Courts 
have ruled that even the mention of poly­
graph test is so inflammatory and preju­
dicial that it calls for mistrial. 

MR. KUNZ [prosecutor]: Judge, I don't think 
that is an accurate statement of the law 

• 
and I can state the cases but that state­
ment is totally inaccurate, Judge. 
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• MR. LINK [defense counsel]: Any mention of poly­
graph that infers what the results were is grounds 
for a mistrial. I think that is an accurate 
statement of the law, Judge. 

(T-221-22). 

At trial, Detective Charles Kessinger testified that during the 

course of his investigation of the murders, in the late afternoon 

of May 12, 1982, he had occasion to enter the residence of the Wei1ers' 

next-door neighbor Donald Davis, where he was introduced to appellant, 

Allen Davis, who is Donald Davis' son (T-1060). Donald Davis said 

that Allen was the last one to see the Weiler children alive (T-1061). 

Allen acknowledged this, and told Kessinger that Kristy Weiler had 

asked him to come over and help fix their bathroom door which was 

• 
stllck (T-1061-62). When he went over there, around 8:00 p.m., Mrs. 

Weiler told him the door had already been fixed; they had a short 

conversation, and then he went back to his father's house for a 

moment, got in his truck, and left the area (T-1062). During the 

conversation, Donald Davis volunteered "I know this looks bad but I 

am missing a gun", and showed Kessinger a magazine photo of a .357 

Ruger Black Hawk (T-1062). Allen "automatically" said he hadn't seen 

it (T-l063). Shortly thereafter, Kessinger asked Allen for permission 

to search his truck (T-1064). Allen consented to the search (T-1064­

67). Police seized some rope from the vehicle, and a shirt (T-1067­

68). Detective Kessinger testified: 

The crime lab people completed their search of 
the vehicle, they took photographs of it and 
at the time I approached Allen Lee Davis who 
was still standing in the yard,; and, as I 
approached him, he said it doesn't look good, 

• 
does it? 

MR. KUNZ [prosecutor]: Did he say that in response 
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•
 to any question?
 

DETECTIVE KESSINGER: Spontaneous statement.
 
And I told him at that time that I felt like 
that we could clear the matter up if you wanted 
to go downtown for an interview and he said yes, 
I'd like to clear it up. I will go downtown. 

(T-l068) . 

Subsequently, the state called Donald Davis as a witness. Mr. Davis 

testified that he normally kept his .357 Ruger pistol in a night table, 

but about a week or two before the murders he had placed it on top of his 

refrigerator (T-1265). He was going to send the pistol back to the manu­

facturer, to have the safety mechanism on the trigger rebuilt (T-1266). 

The gun was a six-cylinder revolver, and it contained five rounds of 

ammunition when placed on the refrigerator (r-1267-68). On May 12, 1982, 

Mr. Davis told Detective Kessinger that the gun was missing (T-1270).

• Kessinger asked Allen if he could look in his truck and Allen said to 

go right ahead (T-127l). 

MR. AUSTIN [prosecutor]: While -- did Allen 
subsequently leave with the police to go to
 
the police station?
 

DONALD DAVIS: Yes.
 

Q Do you know whether he did that freely and
 
voluntarily or not?
 

A Yes, he did.
 

Q He did?
 

A I heard him tell Kessinger, "Let's go take a
 
lie detector test and get it over with."
 

(T-1271) •
 

Defense counsel immediately asked to approach the bench, and requested 

• 
that the jury be excused (T-127l-72). The trial court declined to excuse 

the jury (T-1272). Defense counsel moved for a mistrial, noting that 
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• the reference to the polygraph was highly prejudicial to appellant 

regardless of what the court might instruct the jury, and that an 

instruction would only highlight it (T-1272). The prosecutor asked 

that the jury be admonished to disregard the reference to the poly­

graph, and said: 

Your Honor, the witness was instructed 30 
minutes ago, and I got an entirely different 
response when I asked the question. All I 
did was it freely and voluntarily, and he 
said yes, and that he wanted to go down and 
get it over with. That was the only response 
I elicited from this witness. I didn't even 
know to caution him about the polygraph. 

(T-1272-73). 

Defense counsel said: 

• 
I think the record should reflect, also, that 
during the course of the conference here at 
the bench with the Court and counsel for the 
State and defense that the jury is looking over 
here, obviously curious as to what's going on. 
I moved to approach the bench right after the 
statement was made, and I will submit, Your 
Honor, that if the Court does not grant it, 
the results to my client are absolutely 
devastating. 

(T-1273-74). 

The trial court expressed the view that the witness' remark was 

not prejudicial, because "[t]here is no evidence that [a polygraph 

examination] was given and no evidence that there is any results" (T­

1274). The court denied the motion for mistrial (T-137l), and instructed 

the jury, "Ladies and gentlemen, you are to disregard the last statement 

of the witness [in] regard to a lie detector" (T-1275). 

"Absent consent by both the state and defendant, polygraph evidence 

•
 
is inadmissible in an adversary proceeding" in Florida. Walsh v. State,
 

418 So.2d 1000, 1002 (Fla. 1982); see e.g. eodie v. State, 313 So.2d 
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• 754 (Fla. 1975); Kaminski v. State. 63 So.2d 339 (Fla. 1952). Other 

jurisdictions either follow the same rule [see e.g. State v. Suther­

land_. 617 P.2d 1010. 1011 (Wash. 1980); Williams v. State, 375 N.E.2d 

226, 227 (Ind. 1978)], or forbid the introduction of polygraph evidence 

altogether [see Akonom v. State, 394 A.2d 1213 (Md. App. 1978)]. The 

twin reasons for the exclusion of polygraph evidence are that it is 

unreliable [see Farmer v. City of Fort Lauderdale, 427 So.2d 187, 190­

18
91 (Fla. 1983) ; Kaminski v. State. supra, at 340; State v. Davis. 

407 So.2d 702. 706 (La. 1981)]. and that it is all too likely to be 

taken by jurors as conclusive. See Farmer v. City of Fort Lauderdale. 

supra at 191 (despite its apparent shortcomings, polygraph has attained 

an "almost mythical aura"; results of these tests are regarded as 

• "presumptively accurate" and "any protestations against their validity 

are generally viewed as being made in the obvious self-interest of those 

failing the test"); Akonom v. State, supra. at 1219 and n.B (two studies 

18
 
This Court observed in Farmer (at 191):
 

Various reasons are given by the poly­
graph's detractors for its alleged un­
reliability. According to them, numerous 
factors can influence the validity of 
polygraph testing. Among the most often 
mentioned are the skill of the operator. 
the emotional state of the person tested. 
the fallibility of the machine and, per­
haps most importantly, the general failure 
to determine a specific quantitative re­
lationship between physiological and 
emotional states. In addition. it has 
been generally accepted that physiologi­
cal factors other than conscious deception 
can cause deviant autonomic responses. 

• 
Frustration, surprise. pain, shame, and 
embarrassment, as well as other idiosyn­
cratic responses incapable of being 
analyzed, can cause autonomic response. 
Burkey, The Case Against the Polygraph, 
51 A.B.A.J. 855 (1965). 
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•
 

•
 

•
 

show that polygraph results would be viewed by some jurors as conclusive; 

presumption of innocence would be threatened by "inordinate weight" 

likely to be given to such eVidence); State v. Catanese, 368 So.2d 

975, 981 (La.1979) ("Our fundamental concern is that the trier of fact 

is apt to give almost conclusive weight to the polygraph expert's opinion'!). 

Because of its "horrendous capacity for prejudice" [State v. Parsons, 

200 A.2d 340, 343 (N.J. Super 1964)], any reference to a polygraph 

examination, which either informs the jury, or from which the jury could 

infer, that the defendant failed such an examination or a state witness 

19 
passed one, entitles the defendant to a mistrial. See e.g. Kaminski v. 

State, 63 So.2d 339 (Fla. 1952); Crawford v. State, 321 So.2d 559 (Fla. 

4th DCA 1975), approved 339 So.2d 214 (Fla. 1976); Bollinger v. State, 
20 

402 So.2d 570, 572-73 (Fla. 1st DCA 1981). Even though the polygraph 

19 
In Walsh v. State, supra, the converse situation was presented. This 

Court held that where the jury heard that the defendant had passed 
a polygraph examination, the state was entitled to a mistrial. This 
Court agreed with the trial judge that his curative instruction was 
insufficient, because the jury could not adequately disregard such 
testimony; consequently there was "manifest necessity" to grant a mistrial. 
20 
See also Nichols v. State, 378 S.W.2d 335 (Tex. 1964); State v. Parsons, 

200 A.2d 340 (N.J.Super 1964); State v. Clark, 319 A.2d 247 (N.J.Super 
1974), aff'd 331 A.2d 257 (N.J. 1975); State v. Perry, 142 N.W.2d 573, 
580 (Minn. 1966); People v. Frechette, 155 N.W.2d 830 (Mich. 1968); 
People v. Brocato, 169 N.W.2d483, 490-91 (Mich. App.1969); People v. 
Yatooma, 271 N.W.2d 184 (Mich.App. 1978); People v. York, 329 N.E.2d 
845, 850 (Ill. App. 1975); Hembree v. State, 546 S.W.2d 235, 240 (Tenn. 
1976); Vacendak v. State, 340 N.E.2d 352, 357 (Ind. 1976); Williams v. 
State, 375 N.E.2d 226 (Ind. 1978); Commonwealth v. Kemp, 410 A.2d 870 
(Pa. 1979); State v. Edwards, 412 A.2d 983 (Maine 1980); State v. 
Descoteaux, 614 P.2d 179, 183-84 (Wash. 1980); State v. Sutherland, 
617 P.2d 1010 (Wash. 1980); State v. Davis, 407 So.2d 702, 706 (La. 
1981); Roleson v. State, 614 S.W.2d 656, 659-60 (Ark. 1981). 
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• examination may have been referred to in the future tense, it still may 

be entirely capable of creating a prejudicial inference as to the result. 

See Crawford v. State, supra (police officer advised robbery victim that, 

since he was claiming such a large loss, he would have to take a poly­

graph examination); People v.Brocato, 169 N.W.2d 483, 490 (Mich.App. 

1969) (state witnesses were asked to take polygraph examination); c.f. State 

• 

v. Descoteaux, 614 P.2d 179, 183-84 (Wash. 1980) (defendant was asked on 

cross-examination if he was scheduled to take a polygraph examination 

concerning possible work release violations or criminal activity; trial 

court erred in allowing this question as rebuttal to defendant's direct 

testimony on his motive for not returning to work release facility). 

See also Vacendak v. State, 340 N.E.2d 352, 357 (Ind. 1976) (mention that 

defendant took a polygraph examination, or facts leading to this con­

clusion, is not permitted); State v. Perry, 142 N.W.2d 573, 580 (Minn. 

1966) (facts which would indicate that defendant submitted to a poly­

graph examination cannot be brought to the attention of jury); State v. 

Clark, 319 A.2d 247, 250 (N.J. Super 1974); State v. Perry, supra, at 580 

(fact that polygraph test was administered to defendant cannot be revealed 

to jury, either directly or indirectly); People v. Schiers, 96 Cal. Rptr. 

330, 334 (Cal. App. 1971); People v. Hogan, 647 P.2d 93, 110-12 (Cal. 

1982) (disclosure to jury of willingness or reluctance of accused to submit 

to polygraph examination is prejudicial error). 

Where the jury could infer from a reference to a "lie detector" that 

the defendant submitted to a polygraph examination and failed it, the pre­

judicial effect is so devastating that an instruction to disregard it is 

• an exercise in futility. See e.g. Walsh v. State, supra, at 1002-03 (Fla. 
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• 1982); Frazier v. State, 425 So.2d 192 (Fla. 3d DCA 1983); Dean v. State, 

325 So.2d 14, 19 (Fla. 1st DCA 1975); People v. Parrella, 322 P.2d 83, 87 

(Cal.App. 1958); Commonwealth v. Kemp, 410 A.2d 870,871 (Pa. Super 1979); 

Akonom v. State, supra, at 1220; State v. Davis, supra, at 706, People 

• 

v. Hogan, supra, at 112. In addition to the well recognized impossibility 

of "un-ringing the bell", the very fact that it was the defense attorney 

who objected to the reference to the polygraph (whereupon a side bar con­

ference was held in the presence of, but presumably outside the hearing of, 

the jury, following which the jury was told to disregard it) could only 

reinforce the inference that the defendant must have failed the test, since 

he was the one trying to keep the jury from knowing about it. See State v. 

Perry, supra, at 580 (once jurors were apprised of facts which would indicate 

that defendant had submitted to polygraph examination, they "unquestionably 

• . . would conclude that since the test had been given and its results 

withheld from evidence it had been unfavorable to defendant); Nichols v. 

State, 378 S.W.2d 335, 337 (Tex. 1964) ("An impression must have been 

implanted in the minds of the jurors that the result of the lie detector 

test had been unfavorable to appellant or else appellant's counsel would 

not have objected to the question propounded by the state); cf. Kaminski 

v. State, supra, at 341 (adverse impressions which would be expected to 

flow from defense's failure to pursue inquiry as to results of polygraph 

test); Farmer v. City of Fort Lauderdale, supra, at 191 (protestations 

against validity of polygraph evidence are generally viewed as being made 

in obvious self-interest of those failing test). 

In the present case, the trial court's rather perfunctory instruction 

• to the jury that it should "disregard the last statement of the witness 
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• [in] regard to a lie detector" (T-1275) was completely ineffectual to cure 

the prejudice to appellant's case for two reasons. First, a powerful 

inference that appellant failed a polygraph examination could be drawn by 

the jury from the reference that was made. Donald Davis said that just 

before appellant left the house to go to the police station with Detective 

Kessinger, appellant said to Kessinger, "Let's go take a lie detector test 

and get it over with." There is at least a mild implication in "and get 

it over with'l that the subject of a lie detector test had been discussed, 

and that the suggestion to take one may have been made by the other party, 

namely Kessinger. This inference is strengthened considerably by Kessinger's 

testimony (which the jury had already heard at the time the polygraph was 

mentioned): 

• And I told him [appellant] at that time that I felt like 
that we could clear the matter up if you wanted to go 
downtown for an interview and he said yes, I'd like to 
clear it up. I will go downtown. 

(T-1068) 

The jury had also been told that appellant did in fact go to the police 

station, where he was interviewed by Kessinger, Lt. Derry Dedmon, and 

Detective Ray Smith (T-1069-80, 1193-1219), [Dedmon administered the poly­

graph examination, concluded that appellant was lying in his denial of 

having committed the murders, and confronted appellant with the results of 

the test (see T-424,428). These facts, appropriately, were not related 

to the jury in Dedmon's trial testimony]. Dedmon testified before the jury 

that when he first arrived at the Police Memorial Building to interview 

appellant, Detective Kessinger told him that appellant was not under arrest, 

• 
and was not really even a suspect (T-1202). Appellant was "free to get up 

and walk out of [the] room anytime he wanted to" (T-l202). By about 
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• 1:45 a.m., however, after appellant had been interviewed by Dedmon, 

Kessinger, and Smith, he was placed under arrest for three counts of 

murder (T-l078). Appellant's statements to the officers grew gradually 

more and more incriminating; from his mid-evening statement to Dedmon ­

repeating what he had earlier told Kessinger at his father's house - that 

after he learned the door had already been fixed he had a short conversa­

tion with Mrs. Weiler and then left (T-1200-0l, see T-l06l-62), to his 

late evening admission to Kessinger that he couldn't remember everything 

that happened in the house (T-l076-77), to his still later admission to 

Smith that he "could have" taken his father's gun with him (T-12l5). 

There was no apparent reason for appellant not to stick with his original 

version of the incident, other than perhaps the brilliant interrogation 

•
 techniques of Dedmon, Kessinger, and Smith.
 

Once the jury heard that appellant had said to Kessinger, just 

before leaving for the police building, "Let's go take a lie detector 

test and get it over with," this disjointed sequence of events starts to 

add up. The jury could reasonably infer that Kessinger asked appellant 

to submit to a polygraph examination to "clear the matter up"; appellant 

agreed, took the test, and "failed" it; the police officers made it clear 

to appellant that they did not believe him; and, in response to their 

accusation, appellant kept digging himself in deeper and deeper. This 

in fact is exactly what happened, and if the jurors were paying careful 

attention to the evidence, it would not be too difficult for them to figure 

it out. Even if the jurors were not following the evidence so closely, 

the fact that appellant was arrested and booked that night, coupled with 

the adverse implications which would flow from defense counsel's objection• -66­



• to the very mention of a polygraph, would likely create an inference that 

appellant must have failed a lie detector test. 

• 

But there is a second reason - unique to the circumstances of this 

case -why an instruction to disregard the witness' reference to a poly­

graph was necessarily ineffectual. Immediately after appellant's arrest, 

it was announced to the public on two of Jacksonville's three network 

television stations, and in one of its two major newspapers, that he failed 

a lie detector test; the other newspaper disclosed that he took the test 

prior to his arrest [see Issue I]. At least three of the jurors who 

heard the case had some prior knowledge of the case; one of these jurors 

specifically stated that she acquired her knowledge "[f]rom the newspaper 

and TV." (T-65l). Because of the manner in which voir dire was conducted, 

it was never revealed what these jurors knew about the case [see Issues 

I and II]. Possibly one or more of them knew that appellant failed a 

polygraph examination; this possibility is one of the main reasons why a 

change of venue should have been granted, and why prospective jurors 

should have been questioned outside each other's presence. But it is also 

possible that one or more of the jurors heard or read that appellant 

failed a polygraph examination, but had forgotten this piece of information 

by the time of the trial. In that event, the reference to appellant's 

statement to Kessinger, "Let's go take a lie detector test and get it over 

with," would have a powerful tendency to refresh their memories. 

The fact that appellant failed a polygraph examination was disclosed 

prior to trial by the police and disseminated throughout the community by 

the media. The state, in successfully opposing a change of venue despite

• this and many other instances of prejudicial media coverage, assumed the 
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• risk that an inadvertent remark by one of its own witnesses would open 

a can of worms, and necessitate a mistrial. Appellant submits that, 

under the circumstances of this case, the strong likelihood that members 

of the jury either 1) reasonably inferred from Donald Davis' reference 

to a lie detector test, 2) recalled, as a result of the witness' reference, 

coupled with their exposure to media coverage, or 3) knew all along from 

the media, that appellant failed a polygraph examination, deprived him of 

the presumption of innocence to which the accused in a criminal trial is 

constitutionally entitled. See Kaminski v. State, supra, at 341; see also 

Taylor v. Kentucky, 436 U.S. 478, 483-485(1978); Estelle v. Williams, 425 

U.S. 501, 503 (1976). 

• 
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• ISSUE V 

THE PROSECUTOR'S INFLAMMATORY. EMOTIONAL. AND 
THOROUGHLY IMPROPER ARGUMENT TO THE JURY 
RENDERED APPELLANT'S PENALTY PROCEEDING FUNDA­
MENTALLY UNFAIR AND CONSTITUTIONALLY INTOLERABLE. 

In Hance v. Zant. 696 F.2d 940. 950-53 (11th Cir. 1983), it was recog­

nized that prosecutorial misconduct in closing argument can be "so 

egregious as to render the trial fundamentally unfair". and that such 

misconduct can be of constitutional magnitude. [See also Houston v. 

Estelle. 569 F.2d 372 (5th Cir. 1978); Miller v. State of North Carolina, 

583 F.2d 701 (4th Cir. 1978); Kelly v. Stone. 514 F.2d 18 (9th Cir. 1975)]. 

The court noted that among the factors to be considered in determining 

whether alleged prosecutorial misconduct amounts to a deprivation of 

constitutional rights are: 

• 
(1) the degree to which the challenged remarks have 
a tendency to mislead the jury and to prejudice the 
accused; (2) whether they are isolated or extensive; 
(3) whether they were deliberately or accidentally 
placed before the jury. and except in the sentencing 
phase of capital murder trials, (4) the strength of 
the competent proof to establish the guilt of the 
accused. 

Hance v. Zant, supra, at 950, n.] 

The court then discussed the prosecutor's argument to the jury in Hance's 

sentencing hearing, and concluded that his inflammatory remarks were 

deliberate. extensive and highly prejudicial to the defendant. Hance v. 

Zant, supra, at 953, n.12. 

This dramatic appeal to gut emotion has no place in 
the courtroom. especially in a case involving the 
penalty of death. A sentence of death imposed after 
such an appeal cannot be carried out. The sentencing 
hearing in this case was fundamentally unfair and 
therefore constitutionally intolerable. 

• Hance v. Zant. supra, at 952-53. 
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• The argument to the jury on behalf of the state, in the penalty phase 

of the instant case, was presented by State Attorney T. Edward Austin. 

The twin emotional poles of his approach were to caricaturize appellant 

as some form of sub-human creature, and to play upon the jury's 

identification and sympathy for the Weiler family. He opened this theme 

almost immediately, saying "This man, if you want to call him a man, 

planned to go over to the Weiler home" (T-1806). Mr. Austin continued: 

• 

He took a rope with him, took his rope from his truck 
with him, he went into that house and he bound a nine-year­
old child on the eve of her tenth birthday and brutally 
shot her in the head and in the body and killed her. 
And he mutilated a devoted mother. And I submit that the 
evidence shows she was a devoted mother: what she was 
doing, where the children were coming from, what the children 
were planning to do. And he killed another five-year-old 
child as she was fleeing from that horrible scene, having 
walked in on that monster,having walked in on that monster 
and in her bedroom and their bedroom, in their home, and 
she was fleeing in what had to have been terror, and he 
shot and killed her and, not being satisfied after she was 
dead, went back and battered and beat on her some more. 

(T-1807) 

After referring to "this man's state of mind and his intent, and I 

use the word man advisedly" (T-1808-09), Mr. Austin told the jury, in 

effect, that they were deciding the fate of the single worst criminal 

in the history of the world: 

We have reached a new level of criminality. We are 
at a different level in this case, a new low in the 
barbaric senseless murder of a mother and two innocent 
children in their own home, in their own nest, not 
bothering a soul, going about their business and being 
senselessly murdered. Children of tender years. It's 
a base new low kind of criminality. It's unique in 
criminality. It's that horrible, it's that horrible. 

(T-l809) 

• 
After explaining to the jury why, in his opinion, the legislature 

enacted the death penalty statute and why, in his opinion, the courts 
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• have held it to be constitutional (T-1810-11), and after a brief interlude 

of reasonably proper argument (T-1812-16), Mr. Austin resumed his 

inflammatory tactics: 

I mean, can anyone imagine, think of the horror, the 
terror, of the fear that raced through the mind of 
Nancy Weiler when she saw that murderer, when she saw 
that monster in her bedroom. Think of the awful terror 
in that child's mind as she was running away and the 
child in the middle of a bed with her hands tied behind 
her back and with that animal staring down on her. Terror. 
Stark terror.� 

(T-1817)� 

• 

Mr. Austin then paid a gratuitous backhanded compliment to defense 

counsel, saying " ..•Mr. Tassone is to be congratulated for doing the best 

he could to challenge the state as he should have to prove this case beyond 

and to the exclusion of every reasonable doubt ••. and he did that very well, 

very skillfully.... " (T-1824) However, according to the prosecutor, the 

only thing proved by the three character witnesses put on by the defense 

was that when appellant "was around those people, he acted like a human 

being." (T-1824) 

Mr. Austin then expressed his opinion that the state's expert witnesses 

specifically Mrs. Henson, the "rope expert", and Mr. Havekost, the F.B.I. 

neutron activation analyst - "have done their duty and done it very well. 

As a matter of fact, brilliantly. Brilliantly." (T-1826). He told the 

jury that he could brag about the performance of his assistant, Mr. Kunz, 

who was lead counsel in the guilt phase; his performance in marshalling 

the evidence and exhibits was also described as brilliant. After 

complimenting the judge as having conducted a fair trial and having done 

his duty, the prosecutor had these words for defense counsel: 

• Mr. Tassone did his [duty]. He didn't have too much 
to work with; as a matter of fact, when it comes down 
to the bottom line, he didn't have anything to work with 
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• but he did his duty to defend his client under our system 
of justice. He did it very ably and he did it the best he 
could. 

(T-1827) 

Approaching the end, the prosecutor's already inflammatory and improper 

argument degenerated into a full-fledged emotional tirade: 

Ladies and gentlemen, the [opponents] of the 
death penalty talk about the sanctity of life, the 
sanctity of human life and don't take a life because 
life is sanctified and it's wrong for the State to 
take a life because of the value in our society 
that we put on it. But I ask you about the sanctity 
of Nancy Weiler's life. I ask you about the 
sanctity of Kathy and Kristy Weiler's lives. How 
can society ever show, ever demonstrate what value 
we place on human life if we don't extract it and 
take it out and kill whoever does the awful thing 
that was done in this case? How can sooiety ever 
express its indignation and its outrage if it 
doesn't do it in a case like this by demanding death? 

• I know death is an awful subject. I told you 
that last week. It's unpleasant for me, unpleasant 
for Mr. Kunz and the Judge. It's unpleasant to all 
of us but we live in a society that says an American 
citizen, citizens of Florida, citizens of Jacksonville, 
have a right to be in their homes, have a right to be 
secured, to be safe. 

Look at this picture of this living room, ladies and 
gentlemen, with those shoes laying in front of the fire­
place. That is the most sacred institution in the 
world, the most sacred institution in the world: the 
home of the American citizen and that monster violated 
the home of those people when he killed them. He took 
Kathy -- that is Kathy (indicating) -- Kristy (indicating) 
and Nancy (indicating). And he did this to them (holding 
up photographs). That's what he did. That's what he 
did in Jacksonville, Florida, on May 11, 1982. 

Now in our place right now in society where we are 
and where are we, ladies and gentlemen? If you don't 
exact the death penalty in this case, there's no case 
where it will ever be. There has never been a more 
horrible crime in Duval County or anywhere else than 

• 
taking the lives in their homes of people that are 
wonderful, that are defenseless against a three-hundred­
and-fifty-pound bully, armed, that comes into their house 
and terrorizes them. 
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• If you go through the annals of criminality, you will 
never find a worse factual situation than we have here, 
killing innocent children and an innocent devoted mother. 
I don't know of any other way that you can show the 
outrage. You are the conscience of this community, you 
are the conscience of our society as you sit there now, 
as twelve jurors, and the only way that our society and 
our conscience can be addressed to the demand that no 
innocent member of society be subjected to this type 
activity is to demand it. 

I don't care, we have all kind of fancy theories 
about the death penalty deterring other criminals. I 
don't care about those things. I don't care about 
those standards, ladies and gentlemen. This man needs 
to be put to death for killing Nancy, Kathy and Kristy 
Weiler and for no other reason. 

• 

Society should blame his death for no other reason 
than what he did. Ladies and gentlemen, I am through. 
I thank you again, on behalf of Mr. Kunz and myself 
and on behalf of the people of the State of Florida 
for your attention. If I said anything up here that's 
been too loud and pounding on the table and pounding on 
the table, I'm sorry. I didn't do it to offend you but 
this is important what you do here today, what you do 
here today is important and just forget what I say and 
how I say it, if I'm too loud and too emotional. 
When it's allover, Mr. Tassone has the next time and listen 
to him carefully because he is going to try to make. this 
creature look human this morning, this monster that killed 
those beautiful bodies that you looked at but listen to him 
very carefully. 

(T-1827-30) 

The prosecutor closed by asking the jury for a unanimous recommendation 

of death - " .•• 1 do more than ask you, I plead with you and beg you to 

make it a unanimous recommendation of death on behalf of the people of 

the State of Florida" (T-183l). 

As in Hance v. Zant, supra - even more so than in Hance v. Zant ­

the prosecutor's argument, from beginning to end, was replete with 

inflammatory remarks which were deliberate and highly prejudicial. The 

• 
last three pages in the transcript of the argument reflect not only a 

"dramatic appeal to gut emotion" - the prosecutor is actually urging the 
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• jury to recommend appellant's death solely as an expression of their 

outrage. 

This Court, and the District Courts of Appeal, have long recognized 

that "[t]he trial of one charged with crime is the last place to parade 

prejudicial emotions or exhibit punitive or vindictive exhibitions of 

temperament." Stewart v. State, 51 So.2d 494, 495 (Fla. 1951); Glassman 

• 

v. State, 377 So.2d 208, 211 (Fla. 3d DCA 1979). It is improper for a 

prosecutor "to apply offensive epithets to defendants or their witnesses, 

and engage in vituperative characterizations of them." Johnson v. State, 

102 So.2d 549, 550 (1924) (defendant denounced as a "brute" who "went 

out there for what cats and dogs fight for"); Glassman v. State, supra, 

at 211 (prosecutor mocked defendant, a physician, "Donald Duck - quack, 

quack); Green v. State, 427 So.2d 1036, 1038 (Fla. 3d DCA 1983) (defendant 

characterized as "dragon lady"). "There is no reason under any 

circumstances at any time for a prosecuting officer to be rude to a person 

on trial. It is a mark of incompetency to do so." Daugherty v. State, 

17 So.2d 290, 291 (Fla. 1944); Glassman v. State, supra, at 211; Green v. 

State, supra, at 1038. 

It has likewise been recognized that~it is improper for a prosecutor to 

make an emotional appeal to the sympathy of the jury. See Singer v. State, 

109 So.2d 7, 27-30 (Fla. 1959); Breniser v. State, 267 So.2d 23, 25 (Fla. 

4th DCA 1972); Knight v. State, 316 So.2d 576, 578 (Fla. 1st DCA 1975); 

Harper v. State, 411 So.2d 235, 237 (Fla. 3d DCA 1982); Edwards v. State, 

428 So.2d 357, 359 (Fla. 3d DCA 1983). 

As in Peterson v. State, 376 So.2d 1230, 1233 (Fla. 3d DCA 1979), 

• "the final entry in this mail order catalogue of prosecutorial 

misconduct occurred in the penultimate paragraph of the argument." 

-74­



• In Peterson, the prosecutor said:� 

Not only do they have to get into these disguises� 
and crawl down there and deal with people like this, 
but they have to deal with people like his lawyer 
and be attacked and slandered through the whole 
thing, and they have to do this in front of a jury. 

The appellate court found "[t]his tasteless personal reference 

to the defendant and to his attorney as well [to be] perhaps the most 

offensive remark of all." 

In the present case, the prosecutor argued first. [Contrast Darden 

v. State, 329 So.2d 287, 289 (Fla. 1976) and Darden v. Wainwright, 699 

F.2d 1031, 1034-35 (11th Gir. 1983) - obviously, none of the prosecutor's 

inflammatory remarks can be written off as "invited error"]. After 

repeated references to appellant as a "monster", an "animal", and as 

• 
something other than a human being - calculated to dehumanize appellant 

in the eyes of the jury in order to make it easier for them to vote for 

his death - and after several gratuitous remarks about Mr. Tassone doing 

the best he could with what he had to work with, which was nothing, the 

prosecutor then proceeded to conclude his argument by injecting poison 

into defense counsel's upcoming argument: 

When it's allover, Mr. Tassone has the next time 
and listen to him carefully because he is going to 
try and make this creature look human this morning, 
this monster that killed and mutilated those 
beautiful bodies that you looked at but listen to 
him very carefully. 

The prosecutor's comments about defense counsel doing "the best 

he could" with what he had to work with were highly improper; such 

comments are designed to drive a wedge between the defendant and his 

• 
attorney in the jury's mind, implying that the defense attorney is only 

doing what he's paid to do and doesn't really believe in his client's 
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• innocence or human worth any more than the prosecutor does. See Cochran 

v. State, 280 So.2d 42 (Fla. 1st DCA 1973); Reed v. State, 333 So.2d 524 

(Fla. 1st DCA 1976); Simpson v. State, 352 So.2d 125 (Fla. 1st DCA 1977); 

Melton v. State, 402 So.2d 30 (Fla. 1st DCA 1981). By his final outrageous 

remark, Mr. Austin not only concluded his own emotional diatribe with 

a bang, but also tainted anything defense counsel might say in his 

client's behalf as an attempt "to make this creature look human." 

Cf. Houston v. Estelle, supra, at 377-78. 

Where the prosecutor's argument is so thoroughly prejudicial as 

to destroy the fundamental fairness of the proceeding, reversal on 

appeal is necessary even if no objection was made below. See Pait v. 

State, 112 So.2d 380, 385 (Fla. 1959); Peterson v. State, supra, at 

1233-35; Meade v. State~ 431 So.2d 1031, 1032 (Fla. 4th DCA 1983); Hance 

• v. Zant, supra. In the instant case defense counsel objected to only one 

of the prosecutor's remarks. See Peterson v. State, supra, at 1234; 

Darden v. Wainwright, supra, at 1033. This inexplicable faclt2l is not 

controlling. "[W]hen an improper remark to the jury can be said to be so 

prejudicial to the rights of an accused that neither rebuke nor retraction 

could eradicate its evil influence, then it may be considered as ground for 

reversal despite the absence of an objection below, or even in the presence 

21 
Should it become necessary, appellant reserves the right to raise issues 
relating to possible ineffective assistance of counsel by means of a 
motion pursuant to Fla.R.Cr.P. 3.850. See State v. Barber, 301 So.2d 7 
(Fla. 1974). While appellate counsel is not in a position to determine 
what, if any, specific instances of ineffectiveness could be raised 
[since the Office of the Public Defender for the Second Circuit is 
presently unable to handle collateral proceedings in capital cases], there 

• does not appear to be any conceivable tactical reason for defense counsel's 
failure to object to many of the prosecutor's more reprehensible remarks. 
See Agee v. Wyrick, 546 F.2d 1324 (8th Cir. 1976); Commonwealth v. Hubbard, 
372 A.2d 687, 698-700 (Pa. 1977); Commonwealth v. Barren, 417 A.2d 1156, 
1159-61 (Pa. Super. 1979); State v. Luna, 264 N.W.2d 485, 590-91 (S.D. 1978). 
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• of a rebuke by the trial judge." Pait v. State, supra, at 385; Peterson 

v. State, supra, at 1234; Meade v. State, supra, at 1032. This Court 

has noted "the difficulty, if not the impossibility, of eradicating� 

from the jury's mind the effect of improper argument." Bell v. State,� 

208 So.2d 474, 476 (Fla. 1st DCA 1968), citing Pait v. State, supra.� 

"If you throw a skunk into the jury box, you can't instruct the jury� 

not to smell ito" Dunn v. United States, 307 F.2d 883,886 (5th Cir. 1962);� 

United States v. Garza, 608 F.2d 659, 666 (5th Cir. 1979). In the instant� 

case, the prosecutor tossed enough skunks into the jury box for each� 

juror to have his own. [See Hance v. Zant, supra; Peterson v. State, supra;� 

Houston v. Estelle, supra, Kelly v. Stone, supra, with regard to the� 

cumulative effect of protracted prejudicial argument].� 

• 
The state will presumably argue - somehow - that Mr. Austin's tirade 

was "fair comment", on the theory that the crime was senseless and horrible. 

However, the fact that the crime itself would naturally arouse strong 

emotional reactions in the jurors is all the more reason for the prosecutor 

to try to exercise some restraint, rather than pouring gasoline on the 

fire as he did. See Hance v. Zant, supra, at 951 (prosecutor's "fervent 

appeal to the fears and emotions of an already aroused jury was error of 

a constitutional dimension"). Mr. Austin is no over-eager "rookie" 

prosecutor; he is the State Attorney for the Fourth Circuit, and he knows 

better, or should. His argument was consciously, powerfully, and even 

admittedly aimed at getting the jury to return a death recommendation 

based on their emotional reaction to the crime, and he succeeded in this 

purpose. Maybe the jury would have reached the same result after a fair 

• 
argument on behalf of the state, an untainted argument on behalf of 

appellant, and unimpassioned consideration of the aggravating and mitigating 
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• circumstances; on the other hand, maybe they would not have. In any 

event, the penalty proceeding in this case was fundamentally unfair, 

and the sentence of death irop::>sed pursuant thereto cannot constitu­

tionally be carried out. Hance v. Zant, supra. 

IV CCNCLUSION 

Based on the foregoing argument, reasoning, and citation of 

authority, appellant resPeCtfully requests that this court reverse 

his convictions and death sentences and rem:md this case for a neN 

trial, to be held in a location outside of the Jacksonville media 

market [Issues I, II, III, and IV]. 

Based on the foregoing argument, reasoning, and citation of 

authority, appellant reSPeCtfully requests that this Court reverse 

• his death sentences and remand this case for a neN penalty proceeding 

(Issue V). Respectfully submitted, 

STEVEN L. BOLOl'IN 
Assistant Public Defender 
Second Judicial Circuit 
Post Office Box 671 
Tallahassee, Florida 32302 

. (904) 488-2458 

Attorney for Appellant 
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